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This annual report covers the operations of the Western Australian 
Planning Commission. The report also presents a series of audited 
financial statements and performance indicators for the year 
ended 30 June 2016.

Letter of transmittal

Hon Donna Faragher JP MLC
Minister for Planning

In accordance with Section 61 of the Financial Management 
Act 2006, I submit for your information and presentation to 
Parliament, the Annual Report of the Western Australian Planning 
Commission for the year ended 30 June 2016.

The Annual Report has been prepared in accordance with the 
provisions of the Financial Management Act 2006 and any other 
relevant written law.

Eric Lumsden PSM

Chairman
Western Australian Planning Commission

22 September 2016
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140 William Street
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Aligned with this, significant reforms 
were made in 2016 to the role of the 
Infrastructure Coordination Committee 
(ICC). It is being made smaller and 
more tightly focused on issues of 
strategic importance to the Western 
Australian economy and government. 
The Infrastructure Steering Group (ISG) 
has also been established to report 
to the ICC over 2016, providing a 
whole-of-government approach to 
strategic infrastructure planning and 
key priorities, for government decision-
making. The ISG has been focused 
primarily around the infrastructure 
provisioning required to implement 
Perth and Peel@3.5million. 

A major milestone of Planning Reform Phase Two this year was the 
introduction of the new Planning and Development (Local Planning 
Schemes) Regulations 2015 in October 2015, which now apply to all local 
governments and will make it easier for homeowners, small business and 
industry to obtain building and renovation approvals. 

In 2015 the WAPC, in partnership with regional development 
commissions, Regional Development Australia and local governments, 
finalised regional planning and infrastructure frameworks for the State’s 
eight country planning regions. The purpose of each framework was to 
establish a regional vision and basis for decision-making. 

In early 2016 we also gave a commitment to hold more WAPC regional 
meetings. This gives us the opportunity to meet with local governments 
and other key stakeholders to hear and observe first-hand regional land 
use planning issues. Our first regional meeting was held in Albany in 
March 2016. 

executive summary
The Western Australian Planning Commission (WAPC) is unique among 
Western Australian government authorities in its role and ability to 
undertake long-term strategic and statutory land-use planning. In 
2015/16, we continued our reorientation from a purely statutory body to 
one with an increased strategic focus.

A primary example of this significant strategic shift was the progression 
of the draft Perth and Peel@3.5million suite of land use and infrastructure 
documents. Since the public comment period closed in July 2015, the 
Department of Planning has assessed some 1055 submissions, ready for 
presentation to the WAPC and State Government. 

The Perth and Peel@3.5million frameworks for the North-East, North-
West, Central and South Metropolitan Peel sub-regions encompass 33 
local government areas and consider the location of residential and 
employment-generating industrial land, the best use of existing and 
proposed social and physical infrastructure and how to protect the 
natural environment. When released, the four frameworks will set the 
strategic blueprint for Perth and Peel planning for the next 30 years, 
detailing how we can accommodate a population increase to 3.5 million 
people by 2050.

Perth and Peel@3.5million was complemented by the release of the State 
Government’s draft Perth and Peel Green Growth Plan for 3.5 million 
(Greeen Growth Plan) in December 2015. This strategic environmental 
assessment seeks to streamline State and Federal environmental approval 
processes to provide certainty to development and conservation in Perth 
and Peel for the next 30 years. Importantly it also proposes an additional 
170,000 hectares of land that contains significant environmental values 
be protected through the creation of new and expanded conservation 
reserves.

The strategic assessment, together with the sub-regional frameworks, 
will provide a blueprint for the future integrated land use, infrastructure 
and environmental development and preservation of the Perth and Peel 
regions. This is a once-in-a-generation opportunity and I am very proud of 
our substantial contribution to their development.  
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Eric Lumsden PSM
Chairman
Western Australian Planning Commission

Throughout the year the importance of having a coherent policy 
framework was underlined through a systematic review and update of 
state planning policies. In June 2016 the Policy Planning Framework was 
introduced, providing ready online access to all planning policies. 

On the governance front, review of delegations to the Department of 
Planning has occurred to reduce red tape in the planning process and to 
improve the effectiveness of Committee meetings. We also reviewed our 
code of conduct and standing orders with changes to be implemented in 
2016/17.

Additional key WAPC projects progressed during 2015/16 are outlined on 
pages 1 and 2 under “significant issues and trends.” 

I am pleased to report that client satisfaction with our role in providing 
strategic planning services has improved over the past few years, with 
more than 82 per cent of survey respondents saying they were satisfied 
with the service we provided this year, up from 75 per cent previously. 
Likewise the satisfaction with the timeliness of the services has improved 
in the past few years.        

Looking ahead, we have three clear priorities in 2016/17.There are three 
interconnected strategic State documents that have been developed for 
the Western Australian Government which will provide an unprecedented 
blueprint for future integrated land-use, infrastructure and environmental 
development and preservation. The WAPC has worked very closely with 
all relevant agencies to ensure all three documents closely align. The 
implementation of both the Perth and Perth@3.5million sub-regional 
frameworks and Green Growth Plan will be a major undertaking and the 
WAPC will also be working closely with the transport portfolio to help 
deliver the State Government’s Transport @ 3.5 Million plan. 

In the policy area, streamlining of the Strategic Planning Policy 
Framework, through the work of the Department of Planning, will yield 
greater clarity, certainty and guidance, with the reduction in the numbers 
and overlapping of State planning policies and related instruments. We 
also intend to finalise the Design WA suite of policies, as part of the 
Government’s ongoing planning reform program.

I would like to take this opportunity to thank our former Minister for 
Planning, the Honourable John Day MLA for his significant contribution 
to land use planning in Western Australia during his seven years in this 
portfolio. 

I would also like to extend a warm welcome to the current Minister for 
Planning, the Honourable Donna Faragher JP MLC who took up her 
position in March. 

As always, I offer my thanks to members of the WAPC and its committees 
for their tremendous work and commitment throughout the past year. I 
acknowledge the contribution of members whose terms have come to an 
end, and extend a welcome to our new members.

Finally I would like to acknowledge the professionalism and dedication 
of Department of Planning Director General Gail McGowan, her 
management team and staff for delivery of services to the WAPC. 



viii 2015/16  WESTERN AUSTRALIAN PLANNING COMMISSION  Annual Report 1

significant issues and trends
The WAPC continues to respond to the strategic direction of 
Government through the following significant initiatives:

 � Perth and Peel@3.5 million sub-regional frameworks:  
A suite of draft strategic planning frameworks detailing how the Perth 
and Peel regions can accommodate a significant population increase 
to 3.5 million people by 2050 was released for public consultation in 
2015. The documents clearly spell out future land uses through urban 
consolidation and development of a more considered, connected and 
consolidated urban form. The frameworks are to be finalised and 
endorsed before implementation.

 � Preparation of sub-regional planning strategies:              
The preparation of sub-regional planning strategies for the central 
coast (Gingin to Kalbarri) and the Leeuwin-Naturaliste coast is 
underway by the Department of Planning. The primary aim of the 
proposed sub-regional planning strategies is to manage and plan for 
coastal growth by assisting local governments to implement State 
strategic issues in a sub-regional context, assist decision-making, and 
inform local planning documents such as local planning strategies and 
schemes.

 � Swan Valley Planning Framework:    
On behalf of the WAPC, the Department of Planning is preparing 
a new development plan and associated legislation for the Swan 
Valley following public consultations and liaison with the City of 
Swan. Technical studies have been finalised including land capability, 
infrastructure and servicing, and tourism strategies.  

 � Planning reform for better design (Design WA):  
Design WA includes a number of design-related initiatives that are 
being developed in collaboration with the Office of the Government 
Architect and through a comprehensive practitioner consultation 
program. Initiatives include development of state planning policies for 
the design of the built environment and apartment design.

 � Land acquisition for future road/rail:                            
Land acquisitions will continue for regional planning schemes with 
priority given to finalisation of the passenger railway corridor to 
Yanchep, Mitchell Freeway and the regional road network. The WAPC 
will also prioritise outstanding Bush Forever and regional parklands 
still in private ownership for acquisition.

 � Perth Convention Precinct masterplan:                   
Phase two of a detailed planning and development review of the 
Perth Convention Precinct, along with a full business case evaluation 
of governance and delivery options will continue towards the 
development of a preferred masterplan.     

 � Ascot Kilns and Golden Gateway project:  
Drafting of a local development plan and rezoning for the precinct are 
well underway. A community design workshop was successfully held 
in February 2016 and a Metropolitan Region Scheme Amendment 
1303/57 was approved and referred to the Minister for approval. 
Work on the plan will continue, and the WAPC will facilitate 
amendment to the City of Belmont local planning scheme.
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 � Whiteman Employment Land:   
The WAPC is planning to undertake capital works to service and 
finalise the rezoning of land adjacent to Whiteman Park as part of its 
Economic and Employment Lands Strategy: non-heavy industrial 2012. 
This will result in significant uplift in value and marketability of the site 
for industrial development. The extension of services will also enable 
the finalisation of planning and calling for expressions of interest for 
the development of a proposed caravan park and park home site, and 
a commercial recreation lease site within Whiteman Park. 

 � Forrestfield Airport Link station precinct planning:              
The Department, on behalf of the WAPC, has led station precinct 
planning for the Forrestfield Airport Link in collaboration with key 
stakeholders. This has included the completed strategic planning 
framework and planning control area, ongoing work on structure 
plans for the two stations and a project business case to underpin 
phase two of the project.

 � Implementation of bushfire regulations:   
Following the adoption by the State Government of the Keelty Report, 
a new State Planning Policy 3.7 Planning in Bushfire Prone Areas (SPP 
3.7) and associated Guidelines for Planning in Bushfire Prone Areas 
sets out the WAPC’s position, endorsed by Cabinet, on how land 
use should address bushfire risk management in Western Australia. 
It applies to all land that has been designated as bushfire prone by 
the Fire and Emergency Services Commissioner, shown on the Map 
of Bush Fire Prone Areas. State Planning Policy 3.7 and guidelines 
work in tandem with the Planning and Development (Local Planning 
Schemes) Amendment Regulations 2015 which introduced deemed 
provisions relating to bushfire into every local planning scheme across 
the State. 

 � Service Delivery Agreement:      
A Service Delivery Agreement was signed between the WAPC and the 
Department of Planning in January 2015 following a restructure of 
the Department’s funding model. The agreement is for a term of four 
years and sets out the Department’s delivery of certain projects and 
services to the WAPC in exchange for funding. The funding that the 
WAPC provides to the Department under this agreement is sourced 
from the Metropolitan Regional Improvement Fund and from service 
appropriation.
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State Government released draft Perth and 
Peel Green Growth Plan for 3.5 million to 
complement the WAPC’s draft Perth and 
Peel@3.5million sub-regional planning 
frameworks. 

Draft Wanju District Structure Plan released for 
public comment. The plan is an example of the 
strategic direction the WAPC will seek to adopt 
more frequently in the future. 

Nambeelup Industrial Area District Structure 
Plan released to guide development of a modern 
industrial estate over next few decades. 

More open space for City of Wanneroo as 
WAPC purchased 100 hectares in Alkimos and 
350 hectares in Neerabup for regional open 
space and infrastructure reserves, through its 
Metropolitan Regional Improvement Fund. 

Draft Shenton Park Hospital Redevelopment 
Improvement Scheme, to guide development 
of the proposed 15.8 hectare urban village, 
released for public comment.

State Government announced building reforms 
for new homes in bushfire areas including the 
release of a Map of Bush Fire Prone Areas, 
Building Regulations, State Planning Policy 3.7 – 
Planning in Bushfire Prone Areas and guidelines, 
and Local Planning Scheme Amendment 
Regulations 2015.

Draft Swan Valley Development Plan released 
for public comment. The plan aims to provide 
greater protection for agricultural land and 
encourage tourism activities that support and 
complement the area’s rural character. 

Minor Metropolitan Region Scheme amendment 
for former Bristile Kilns site in Ascot released 
for public comment. Stakeholder consultation 
and community workshops follow while the 
WAPC and City of Belmont progress work on 
the preparation of a local structure plan for the 
Golden Gateway precinct. 

Draft Liveable Neighbourhoods policy released 
for public comment. The policy aims to create 
more functional, compact, and healthier 
communities. 

New statewide Planning and Development 
(Local Planning Scheme) Regulations 2015 take 
effect, replacing Town Planning Regulations 
1967 and the associated Model Scheme Text. 

Residential Design Codes (R-Codes) are amended 
to better control apartment development in 
suburban areas.

2015/16 snapshot
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Organisation chart of the

Western Australian
Planning Commission

Statutory Planning 
Committee

Infrastructure Steering 
Group

Executive Finance and Property 
Committee

Infrastructure Coordinating 
Committee

South-West Region Planning 
Committee

Peel Regional Planning 
Committee

Central Perth Planning 
Committee

Western Australian 
Planning Commission

Board of Management

Performs the administrative, financial and 
property functions of the WAPC.

See: Planning and Development Act 2005

See:

WAPC Strategic Plan 2015-17See:

www.planning.wa.gov.au/about-the-WAPC

Strategic Plan
The WAPC will take a lead role in shaping the future of 
Western Australia in a sustainable manner through leading 
a whole-of-government approach in integrated strategic 
and statutory land-use planning, land development and 
infrastructure coordination.

Role and function
The WAPC is the statutory body with statewide 
responsibility for urban, rural and regional integrated 
strategic and statutory land-use planning and land 
development.

Advises the WAPC on planning for the 
provision of strategic physical and community 
infrastructure throughout the state.

Is the WAPC’s regulatory decision-making 
body.

Responsible for strategic land-use planning for 
the South-West region.

Responsible for strategic land-use planning for 
the Peel region.

Established to oversee and provide direction 
for strategic land-use planning in the Perth 
central area.

Audit and Risk Management 
Committee

The Department of Planning provides statutory and policy services to 
the WAPC under the Service Delivery Agreement

members14

members10 members20

members10 members3

members6 members8

members6

members13
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The WAPC has statewide responsibility for urban, rural and regional 
integrated strategic and statutory land-use planning and land 
development. 

It responds to the strategic direction of State Government and is 
responsible for:

 � advising the Minister for Planning on strategic land-use planning and 
land development, legislative reform and local planning schemes;

 � making statutory decisions on a range of planning applications;

 � implementing the State Planning Strategy to provide a vision for the 
future development of Western Australia;

 � developing integrated land-use planning strategies for the coordinated 
provision of transport and infrastructure for land development;

 � preparing and reviewing region schemes to cater for anticipated 
growth;

 � monitoring and forecasting land supply throughout the State and 
developing strategies for the timely supply of affordable residential 
land;

 � undertaking research and developing planning methods and models 
relating to land-use planning, land development and associated 
matters; and 

 � acquiring land for public requirement reservations in region planning 
schemes and compensating affected landowners.

The WAPC operates with the support of the Department of Planning 
which provides professional and technical expertise, administrative 
services and resources to advise and implement the WAPC’s decisions.

In 2015/16, the WAPC comprised a Chair and 13 members (see Appendix 
1), representing industry, government and the community.

about the WAPC

Enabling legislation

The WAPC was established under Section 7 of the Planning and 
Development Act 2005 (The Act).

Responsible minister

The WAPC is responsible to the Honourable Donna Faragher JP MLC; 
Minister for Planning.

Legislation administered

The WAPC exercises the functions and powers vested in it by the Planning 
and Development Act 2005.

Where matters of State or regional importance so require, the WAPC may 
prepare a region planning scheme. Currently, the WAPC is responsible for, 
and has decision making authority under, the following region planning 
schemes:

 � Metropolitan Region Scheme

 � Peel Region Scheme

 � Greater Bunbury Region Scheme

Further, the WAPC is authorised under local planning schemes (by virtue 
of Schedule 2 of the Planning and Development (Local Planning Scheme) 
Regulations 2015) for approving certain planning instruments, such as 
structure plans or activity centre plans.
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Stakeholders

As well as the Minister for Planning, the Premier and State Parliament, 
the WAPC works with local governments, industry associations, builders 
and architects, State and Commonwealth government agencies, 
environmental groups, not-for-profit organisations, community groups, 
individual land owners and their legal representatives, and property 
developers.

Shared responsibilities with other agencies

The WAPC has common interests with a range of authorities including 
the Environmental Protection Authority, the Heritage Council and the 
Swan River Trust. It also works to foster relationships with local, State and 
Commonwealth Government agencies. 

Delegations

Under s16 of the Act, the WAPC is able to delegate its statutory functions 
to officers of the Department of Planning, and other State and local 
government agencies. For more information see page 18.
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Figure 1: The Western Australian planning system framework

The State Planning Strategy 2050 is the lead strategic planning document 
within Government. Its purpose and function is to provide a credible State 
strategic context and basis for the integration and coordination of land-use 
planning and development across State, regional and local jurisdictions.  

Directions 2031 and beyond is a high-level spatial framework and 
strategic plan for future growth for the Perth and Peel regions and guides 
the detailed planning and delivery of housing, infrastructure and services 
necessary to accommodate future population growth. This framework 
will be superseded by Perth and Peel@3.5million when endorsed by the 
State Government. 

the planning context
The draft planning frameworks within Perth and Peel@3.5million build 
on the vision of Directions 2031 and beyond and when finalised as sub-
regional structure plans will provide strategic guidance to government 
agencies and local governments on land-use, land supply, land 
development, environmental protection, infrastructure investment and 
the delivery of physical and community/social infrastructure across Perth 
and Peel. 

LEVEL STRATEGIC
STRUCTURE 

PLANS
STATUTORY POLICY

LOCAL

REGIONAL

STATE
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Performance management framework

The Western Australian Government has five goals that guide the 
development of policies, programs and services within its agencies.   
These are:

Goal 1: State building – major projects
Building strategic infrastructure that will create jobs and underpin 
Western Australia’s long-term economic development.

Goal 2: Financial and economic responsibility
Responsibility for managing the State’s finances through the efficient 
and effective delivery of services, encouraging economic activity and 
reducing regulatory burdens on the private sector.

SERVICE DESIRED OUTCOME GOVERNMENT GOAL

Land-use planning and 
land-use implementation 

strategies to guide the 
State’s long-term urban 

settlement and economic 
development

1.  STATUTORY PLANNING

2.  STRATEGIC PLANNING

3.  ASSET MANAGEMENT

State building –
major projects

Building strategic infrastructure 
that will create jobs and 

underpin Western Australia’s 
long-term economic 

development

GOAL 1

WAPC’s outcomes and services, and contribution to the State Government goals

Figure 2: WAPC contribution to State Government goals

Goal 3: Results-based service delivery
Greater focus on achieving results in key service delivery areas for 
the benefit of all Western Australians.

Goal 4: Stronger focus on the regions
Greater focus on service delivery, infrastructure investment and 
economic development to improve the overall quality of life in 
remote and regional areas.

Goal 5: Social and economic responsibility
Ensuring that economic activity is managed in a socially and 
environmentally responsible manner for the long-term benefit of the 
State.
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The WAPC contributes to all State Government goals and particularly to 
Goal 1 by delivering land-use planning and implementation strategies to 
guide the State’s long-term urban and economic development through 
three services:

SERVICE 1  STATUTORY PLANNING

Using statutory, consultative, legislative, regulatory reform and 
coordination processes to implement creative and innovative 
strategic regional and local plans and policies.

SERVICE 2  STRATEGIC PLANNING

Developing and advancing strategic and statutory planning 
strategies, policies and information systems that guide the State’s 
long-term urban, industrial and economic development and 
management of the environment to reflect Western Australian 
aspirations for a high quality of life. 

SERVICE 3  ASSET MANAGEMENT

Acquiring, managing and disposing of properties reserved under 
the metropolitan, Peel and Greater Bunbury region schemes for 
primary and other regional roads; parks and recreation and regional 
open space; special uses including planning control areas and 
improvement plans; and major land development projects. 
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State Building: building strategic infrastructure that will create jobs 
and underpin WA’s long term economic development.

Land-use planning and land-use implementation strategies to guide 
the State’s long-term urban settlement and economic development.

WAPC strategic objectives:

WAPC strategic themes:

State
government

     goal:



10 2015/16  WESTERN AUSTRALIAN PLANNING COMMISSION  Annual Report 11

Overarching ministerial objectives 

The WAPC’s overarching land-use planning obligations and correlating 
outcomes are determined through its planning program.

The 2015/16 program was established through close collaboration with 
the former Minister for Planning and the Department of Planning to 
identify State planning objectives and priorities. These provided the focus 
and direction for all business areas. 

The objectives for 2015/16 were:

 � Communicate and implement a collaborative vision for well-
managed growth in Perth and Western Australia, through strong 
strategic planning documents and planning processes that facilitate 
well-designed development and increased density and diversity in 
appropriate locations.

 � Ongoing reform and improvement of the planning system, to respond 
to growth and demographic change, streamline planning processes, 
and to achieve improved outcomes in the physical and natural 
environment.

 � Ensure that the WAPC’s and Department of Planning’s contribution to 
land supply continues to keep pace with the economic and population 
growth of the State (safeguard against future land supply crises).

 � Help to make Western Australia a more affordable and diverse place 
to live through assisting in the delivery of the State Government’s 
Affordable Housing Strategy 2010-2020 and making effective and 
efficient planning decisions which result in increased choice for the 
community.

 � High quality and considered advice to be provided to the Minister’s 
office and key stakeholders in order to promote the values of 
transparent decision-making and orderly planning process.

During 2015/16, the WAPC provided three key services – statutory 
planning, strategic planning and asset management.

the planning program 2015/16
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Metropolitan Region Scheme amendments

Thirty amendments were considered during 2015/16.

MAJOR MINOR OTHER
NO AMENDMENT TITLE WEBSITE ADDRESS IN TAB FIN IN FIN IN FIN
1210/41 Rationalisation of Stirling Highway Reservation http://www.planning.wa.gov.au/publications/6242.asp X
1267/57 Rationalisation of Pt Lots 40 and 41 River Avenue, 

Maddington
http://www.planning.wa.gov.au/publications/7104.asp

X

1276/57 Caporn Street, Sinagra http://www.planning.wa.gov.au/publications/7304.asp X
1278/57 Rockingham Strategic Regional Centre http://www.planning.wa.gov.au/publications/7633.asp X
1282/57 Forrestfield-High Wycombe Precinct 3 http://www.planning.wa.gov.au/publications/7841.asp X
1283/57 Holmes Street Reservation, Southern River http://www.planning.wa.gov.au/publications/7815.asp X
1284/57 Lots 5000 and 5001 Pipidinny Road, Eglinton http://www.planning.wa.gov.au/publications/7811.asp X
1286/57 Western Power Omnibus 1 http://www.planning.wa.gov.au/publications/7925.asp X
1287/57 Lots 212, 852 and 854 Lake Road, Champion Lakes http://www.planning.wa.gov.au/publications/7845.asp X
1288/57 Lots 986 and 993 Baldivis Road, Baldivis http://www.planning.wa.gov.au/publications/7849.asp X
1303/57 Ascot Kilns Precinct Redevelopment http://www.planning.wa.gov.au/publications/8360.asp X X
1304/57 Lots 28 & 29 Belgrade Road and Lots 10 & 11 Dundebar 

Road, Wanneroo
http://www.planning.wa.gov.au/publications/8199.asp

X X

1305/27 Bennett Springs East http://www.planning.wa.gov.au/publications/8170.asp X
1307/27 Gidgegannup Urban Precinct http://www.planning.wa.gov.au/publications/8131.asp X
1308/41 East Wanneroo Structure Plan Area http://www.planning.wa.gov.au/publications/8338.asp X
1309/57 Industrial Zoning Anomalies http://www.planning.wa.gov.au/publications/8371.asp X
1310/41 Guildford Road from East Parade to Tonkin Highway Not yet advertised X
1311/57 Bedbrook Place, Shenton Park Not yet advertised X
PCA 110 Hutton Street between Scarborough Beach Road and 

Mitchell Freeway
http://www.planning.wa.gov.au/publications/mrspca110.asp

X

PCA 111 Anketell Road between Kwinana Freeway and 
Rockingham Road

http://www.planning.wa.gov.au/publications/mrspca111.asp X

PCA 112 Rowley Road between Kwinana Freeway and the Coast http://www.planning.wa.gov.au/publications/mrspca112.asp X
PCA 113 Curtin Avenue Extension http://www.planning.wa.gov.au/publications/mrspca113.asp X
PCA 115 Forrestfield Station http://www.planning.wa.gov.au/publications/mrspca115.asp X
PCA 116 Airport West Station http://www.planning.wa.gov.au/publications/mrspca116.asp X
PCA 117 Canning Highway between Collier Street and Henley 

Street
http://www.planning.wa.gov.au/publications/mrspca117.asp X

statutory planning services
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MAJOR MINOR OTHER
NO AMENDMENT TITLE WEBSITE ADDRESS IN TAB FIN IN FIN IN FIN
PCA 118 South Bullsbrook Intermodal Terminal Cannot locate X
PCA 119 Midland Freight Rail Realignment http://www.planning.wa.gov.au/publications/mrspca119.asp X
PCA 120 Roe Highway Stage 8 Extension between Stock Road 

and Karel Avenue
http://www.planning.wa.gov.au/publications/mrspca120.asp X

PCA 121 Lloyd Street http://www.planning.wa.gov.au/publications/mrspca121.asp X
PCA 122 Cockburn Central http://www.planning.wa.gov.au/publications/mrspca122.asp X

TABLE LEGEND
IN Initiated in 2015/16 financial year
FIN Finalised in 2015/16 financial year
TAB Tabled in parliament in 2015/16 financial year

NOTES
Major amendments are indicated by /41
Minor amendments are indicated by /57
Lifting of Urban Deferred outside MRS are indicated by /13
Lifting of Urban Deferred within MRS are indicated by /27
PCA represents Planning Control Area
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Peel Region Scheme amendments

Two amendments were considered during 2015/16.

MAJOR MINOR OTHER
NO AMENDMENT TITLE WEBSITE ADDRESS IN TAB FIN IN FIN IN FIN
039/57 Lakelands North http://www.planning.wa.gov.au/publications/7861.asp X
040/57 Regional Reservations http://www.planning.wa.gov.au/publications/8304.asp X

TABLE LEGEND
IN Initiated in 2015/16 financial year
FIN Finalised in 2015/16 financial year
TAB Tabled in parliament in 2015/16 financial year

NOTES
Major amendments are indicated by /41
Minor amendments are indicated by /57
Lifting of Urban Deferred outside MRS are indicated by /13
Lifting of Urban Deferred within MRS are indicated by /27
PCA represents Planning Control Area
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TABLE LEGEND
IN Initiated in 2015/16 financial year
FIN Finalised in 2015/16 financial year
TAB Tabled in parliament in 2015/16 financial year

NOTES
Major amendments are indicated by /41
Minor amendments are indicated by /57
Lifting of Urban Deferred outside MRS are indicated by /13
Lifting of Urban Deferred within MRS are indicated by /27
PCA represents Planning Control Area

Greater Bunbury Region Scheme amendments

Eight amendments were considered during 2015/16.

MAJOR MINOR OTHER
NO AMENDMENT TITLE WEBSITE ADDRESS IN TAB FIN IN FIN IN FIN
0030/57 Lot 9001 Waterloo Road, Roelands & Various Zoning 

Anomalies
http://www.planning.wa.gov.au/publications/6808.asp

X

0038/57 Western Power Omnibus No. 1 - Anomalies Amendment http://www.planning.wa.gov.au/publications/7780.asp X
0039/57 Bunbury Airport Expansion http://www.planning.wa.gov.au/publications/8063.asp X
0040/57 Omnibus No. 4 - Anomalies Amendment http://www.planning.wa.gov.au/publications/8065.asp X X
0041/57 Public Drinking Water Source  Protection Areas N/A X
0042/57 Kemerton Strategic Industrial Area http://www.planning.wa.gov.au/publications/8264.asp X
0043/13 Lifting of Urban Deferred - Dalyuellup South N/A X X
0044/57 Visitor Gateway Project (DPAW Offices) N/A X
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Review of WAPC decisions

Certain WAPC decisions can be reviewed through the State 
Administrative Tribunal. In 2015/16, 84 new review applications were 
received out of a total of 3984 determinations made by the WAPC on 
subdivision, survey strata, structure plan, development and Metropolitan 
Region Scheme urban deferred lifting. 

The tribunal finalised 74 applications for review; 70 were mediated 
or withdrawn without the need for a substantive hearing; three were 
determined by the tribunal after a substantive hearing, of which one was 
dismissed/upheld in part, and two were dismissed.

.
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Planning applications

During 2015/16, the WAPC received 3,252 applications (down eight per 
cent on the previous year). A total of 24,955 residential lots were lodged 
during 2015/16 (down 19 per cent). The WAPC granted conditional 
approval for 23,657 residential lots (down 30 per cent) and final approval 

2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16

Subdivision applications (S)
Received 2,206 2,027 1,855 2,099 1,831 1,846 1,775
Determined 2,156 2,113 1,792 1,788 1,991 1,852 1,840
Within statutory time frame (target 80%) 65 79 79 86 83 87 92
Development applications (D)
Received 586 547 492 512 615 625 571
Determined 557 420 432 442 540 520 517
Within statutory time frame (target 70%) 46 59 55 73 72 72 78
Strata title applications (T)
Received 4 1 1 3 3 2 2
Determined 28 1 1 2 1 2 3
Within statutory time frame (target 70%) 21 100 0 0 100 100 100
Survey strata applications (A)
Received 1,229 1,238 1,070 1,568 1,443 1,536 1,464
Determined 1,159 1,732 1,056 1,182 1,649 1,512 1,473
Within statutory time frame (target 70%) 78 64 79 85 76 88 90
Vacant strata title applications (V)
Received 22 18 16 31 20 13 13
Determined 11 20 16 22 17 13 16
Within statutory time frame (target 70%) 64 90 63 73 94 100 94
Subdivision approvals
Residential lots - lodged 28,563 29,965 27,752 35,083 37,901 30,779 24,955
Residential lots - preliminary 24,307 25,346 25,394 26,018 34,031 33,931 23,657
Residential lots - final 10,915 12,695 11,339 15,009 17,781 21,256 16,692

Note: These figures include survey strata, vacant strata and subdivision applications

for 16,692 lots (down 21 per cent). On 30 June 2016, the number of 
residential lots of stock across Western Australia stood at 77,273 (down 
three per cent on the previous year).
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Delegations

Many of the WAPC’s day-to-day statutory functions are undertaken by 
Department of Planning officers under delegated authority, permitted 
under s16 of the Act. This enables the WAPC to respond to the strategic 
direction of government and focus on strategic planning of the State, 
while ensuring its comprehensive workload is properly managed and its 
responsibilities met in a timely and professional manner. 

The WAPC adopts a best practice approach to the delegation of 
authority. As such, instruments of delegation are routinely examined 
to ensure they remain accurate and appropriate. The Planning and 
Development (Local Planning Scheme) Regulations 2015, which were 
introduced in October 2015, constituted a significant reform to Western 
Australia’s planning system. A conservative approach was taken to the 
delegation of powers or functions contained in these regulations. This 
permitted the new system to commence in a controlled manner. These 
delegations were considered again by the WAPC in March 2016 and 
found to be satisfactory, with only minor amendments being made.

In December 2015 the WAPC’s principal instrument of delegation to local 
governments was simplified. This instrument authorises local government 
officers and certain officers of the Department of Transport to exercise 
certain WAPC powers under the Metropolitan Region Scheme.

Transport route planning

In 2015/16 the following transport route planning initiatives were 
progressed:

Abernethy Access Road strategy study
This access strategy is intended to facilitate the coordinated provision of 
transport infrastructure. It will provide direction for achieving integrated 
transport planning and land-use outcomes specifically for future 
development within areas adjacent to Abernethy Road and within the 
area covered by the Perth Airport masterplan.

Flynn Drive, Neaves and Rutland roads
Strategic transport documents have identified Flynn Drive, Neaves 
Road and Rutland Road as a regionally significant freight transport link 
connecting the north-west and north-east urban corridors of Perth, 
improving access to industrial and commercial areas. Network planning 
and concept road designs are currently being prepared to protect current 
and long-term upgrade needs of this important transport link.

Jandakot Eastern Link Road 
Jandakot Airport is an important regional airport facility within 
Perth. A road alignment selection and reservation study, including an 
environmental impact assessment for the preferred alignment, has been 
completed. The Department of Planning is now seeking the initiation 
of a Metropolitan Region Scheme amendment for the proposed road 
reservation.  
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Ranford Road reservation review study 
This study includes the full extent of Ranford Road (approximately 
12 kilometres) and has been undertaken in consultation with the 
Department of Transport, The Public Transport Authority, Main Roads 
WA and the cities of Canning, Gosnells and Armadale. The purpose of 
the study is to review the current and future function of Ranford Road 
and determine the required road reservation boundary for its ultimate 
development. The results of the study will be used to modify the existing 
other road reservation under the Metropolitan Region Scheme.  

Rowley Road and Anketell/Thomas roads
Rowley Road and Anketell/Thomas roads (between Tonkin Highway 
and Kwinana Freeway) are identified as regional roads and freight 
routes within the draft South Metropolitan Peel Sub-Regional Planning 
Framework. Design concept and reservation plans have recently been 
prepared to accommodate future freight and general traffic demand on 
these roads. It is intended that these roads will be upgraded to a four 
lane primary regional road standard, and the planning for this project 
continues to progress. 

Scarborough Beach Road planning control area 123 
(west of Odin Road)
The Scarborough Beach Road Activity Corridor Framework provides an 
overarching transport and land-use vision that will significantly improve 
the form and function of the road and its surrounds. The land-use 
planning that supports the corridor encourages increased density and 
well defined public transport. The western portion, from Odin Road to 
Hinderwell Street, requires the finalisation of a planning control area to 
protect the road reservation for future transport improvements. 

Transport impact assessment guidelines
The former draft Transport Assessment Guidelines for Developments 
(WAPC 2006) has been updated and renamed Transport Impact 
Assessment Guidelines. The guidelines are an important tool developed 
to help transport professionals and State and local governments produce 
and assess transport impact assessments. The guidelines have been 
updated to incorporate the latest WAPC policies and technical transport 
requirements. 

Planning control areas for transport initiatives 
Transport portfolio agencies require long-term certainty to maintain 
the viability of strategic initiatives in passenger and freight railways and 
regional roads. The Department of Planning is assisting with protecting 
the land required for these using planning control areas and Metropolitan 
Region Scheme amendments.   

Recently completed planning control areas include South Bullsbrook 
Freight Intermodal Terminal, Midland Freight Railway Realignment, 
Anketell and Rowley roads (west of Kwinana Freeway), Curtin Avenue, 
Canning Highway, Armadale Road deviation (Cockburn Central), Lloyd 
Street, Scarborough Beach Road, Hutton Street and Roe Highway 
extension. Additional work underway includes protection of the proposed 
Kenwick Freight Railway facility.  

Main Roads WA partnership
The WAPC, through the Department of Planning, and Main Roads 
WA have teamed up to progress significant Metropolitan Region 
Scheme amendments and planning control areas for primary regional 
roads, which are under the care and control of Main Roads WA. This 
is an ongoing partnership with Main Roads WA, who prepare road 
planning concepts and land management plans while the Department 
manages the reporting to the WAPC, advertising and management of 
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the Metropolitan Region Scheme amendment process. For example, in 
2015/16 a new Metropolitan Region Scheme amendment for Guildford 
Road was initiated as a result of this partnership.

Department of Planning and Department of 
Transport
The Department of Planning has strengthened its relationship with 
the Department of Transport in the areas of active transport, and land 
use and transport integration for the draft Perth and Peel@3.5million 
planning frameworks and the proposed Perth Transport Plan. 

Statutory referrals and advice
The Department of Planning, on behalf of the WAPC, administers 
statutory planning referrals, providing detailed transport planning 
comments, advice and recommendations on structure plans, subdivisions, 
development applications, Metropolitan Region Scheme amendments, 
local planning scheme amendments and other planning related proposals. 
This transport planning advice is utilised within the planning decision 
making process by internal statutory teams and local governments. 
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Perth and Peel@3.5million 

The draft strategic land-use planning and infrastructure frameworks 
for the Central, North-West, North-East and South Metropolitan Peel 
sub-regions and the Perth and Peel@3.5million overarching document 
were developed by the WAPC to guide future development and 
infrastructure provision to accommodate 3.5 million people by 2050.

In keeping with the vision and intent of the 2010 strategic planning 
document, Directions 2031 and beyond, the draft frameworks 
proposed a more sustainable urban form for the Perth and Peel 
metropolitan regions, through the development of a more compact 
and connected city. They also reflected Directions 2031’s five key 
themes — liveable, prosperous, accessible, sustainable and responsible 
– that set the strategic direction to guide Government decision-
making on land-use and infrastructure planning.

With critical input from key State Government service providers, the 
draft frameworks offered a spatial plan to underpin appropriate and 
timely growth into the future. The spatial plan has been developed in 
conjunction with, and provides the basis for the draft Perth and Peel 
Green Growth Plan for 3.5 million strategic environmental assessment 
and the draft Transport @ 3.5 Million plan to create an integrated, whole-
of-government approach to accommodating a substantial population 
increase. 

The draft frameworks, released for public comment from May to July 
2015, provided guidance on the future urban form of the Perth and Peel 
regions - where sustainable future residential, commercial and industrial 
development should occur; how to make best use of proposed and 
existing social, community and physical infrastructure; and how to avoid 
impacting on significant environmental attributes.

A second round of targeted consultation was offered to key stakeholders 
including all 33 local governments across the Perth and Peel regions, 
State Government agencies and key industry bodies to allow agencies to 
update and/or clarify aspects of their submissions as required. A total of 
36 organisations participated.

strategic planning services

Three overarching government 
frameworks for planning for   
Perth and Peel

Liveable

Prosperous

Connected

Sustainable

Collaborative

Diversity

Green Growth
Plan for

3.5 million 

Perth and 
Peel@3.5milion

sub-regional frameworks –
Central, North-West,

North-East,
South Metropolitan

Peel

Transport @
3.5 Million Plan 
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After almost five months of consultation around 3,600 submissions 
were received on the plan. Fifty two stakeholder briefing sessions were 
undertaken during the public consultation period to industry, peak 
bodies, conservation groups, local governments and community groups. 
Although the public consultation period has closed, State Government 
engagement with stakeholders continues.

Forrestfield Airport Link station precinct 
planning

Forrestfield-Airport Link is a new train line that will connect Forrestfield 
to the city. The rail link will connect with the existing Midland line near 
Bayswater Station and will run to Forrestfield through underground 
tunnels, to ensure minimal impact on the existing land and road network. 

The Forrestfield Airport Link Project provides an important opportunity 
for transit-oriented development and land-use intensification around the 
proposed Airport West and Forrestfield stations. The WAPC has overseen 
the Department of Planning’s station precinct planning activities for the 
Belmont and Forrestfield station precincts, in consultation with the Public 
Transport Authority, affected local governments and stakeholders.

In the past year a strategic planning framework for the Forrestfield 
Airport Link has been progressed; the Minister for Planning has granted 
approval for the declaration of planning control areas to enable the 
WAPC to determine development applications for land surrounding the 
two stations; and structure plans for the Belmont and Forrestfield station 
precincts have been prepared. 

The Forrestfield Airport Link station precinct planning is now at the 
conclusion of the preliminary planning and design stage. 

In all, 1,055 submissions were received. The majority of submissions were 
specific to proposals within a particular subregion and were reviewed by 
the team of Department of Planning officers considering submissions for 
that subregion. 

Significant work has been undertaken to review all submissions to refine 
the frameworks which will be considered by the WAPC later in 2016.

Perth and Peel Green Growth Plan for 3.5 
million 

In December 2015 the State Government released the draft Perth and 
Peel Green Growth Plan for 3.5 million. The plan is a cross-agency 
initiative that will seek to secure Commonwealth environmental approvals 
upfront, and streamline State environmental approval processes, to 
provide certainty to development and conservation in Perth and Peel for 
the next 30 years. 

The Green Growth Plan is the largest urban-based strategic assessment 
ever undertaken in Australia. It proposes the protection of an additional 
170,000 hectares of new conservation reserves in Perth and Peel and 
immediate surrounds, including improved protection and management 
of Bush Forever sites. It also provides for the urban, industrial, rural-
residential, infrastructure and basic raw materials land required to support 
a population of 3.5 million people. 

The WAPC has provided extensive input into the development footprint 
for the draft Green Growth Plan, which has achieved significant upfront 
avoidance of over 16,000 hectares of impacts to native vegetation 
through a focus on delivering a more compact city. The WAPC anticipates 
it will play a significant role in implementing much of the Green Growth 
Plan through the planning system over the coming decades.
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Two community design workshop were held in February and May 2016 
to determine the preferred concept option and design elements for 
the site. Following this, the preparation of a refined concept has been 
underway along with the drafting of the local development plan and 
design guidance for the future of the site, and rezoning for the precinct 
is underway. Liaison with consultants has also occurred to finalise the 
majority of supporting studies for input into the local development plan. 

The WAPC is also working closely with the City of Belmont to prepare 
a local structure plan to guide land use and development outcomes 
for the broader Golden Gateway precinct bounded by Great Eastern 
Highway, Resolution Drive, Grandstand Road and the Swan River, Ascot. 
The Golden Gateway Local Structure Plan will set out a vision for future 
redevelopment of the 27 hectare precinct, and will be used by a wide 
range of stakeholders to guide land-use and development outcomes.

Review of the Infrastructure Coordinating 
Committee

Infrastructure planning is a key aspect of Western Australia’s economic 
development and the WAPC is instrumental to the strategic coordination 
of infrastructure planning for the State. During 2015/16, reforms 
have been underway with the role of the Infrastructure Coordination 
Committee (ICC). It is being made smaller and more tightly focused 
on infrastructure issues of strategic importance to Western Australia’s 
economy and government. 

The Infrastructure Steering Group (ISG) has been established to report 
to the ICC thereby providing a whole-of-government approach to 
strategic infrastructure planning and key priorities, for government 
decision making. The development of the Department of Planning’s 
Infrastructure Monitoring Framework will also provide the ICC and ISG, 
and government decision-makers, with options for coordination planning 
to understand medium and long-term infrastructure needs to meet 
government objectives. 

Perth Convention Precinct masterplan

The WAPC, through its Central Perth Planning Committee (consisting 
of representatives from the City of Perth, Metropolitan Redevelopment 
Authority, departments of planning, transport and housing, LandCorp, 
Heritage Council of WA, Swan River Trust, Office of the Government 
Architect, and community and professional representatives) has 
commissioned the Department of Planning to prepare a detailed 
masterplan for the Perth Convention Precinct and a supporting business 
case for government consideration. 

It is clear that significant benefits can be generated from complementary 
development that responds appropriately to the surrounding area and 
reinforces the strategic role of the precinct. The masterplan is based 
on a staged approach to development to 2050, and sets out a long-
term strategic vision for the site. Detailed technical analysis including 
architectural concepts, movement network modelling and concept 
design, servicing requirements and commercial advice has been 
undertaken

Ascot Kilns and Golden Gateway projects

In late 2015 preparation began for the Ascot Kilns Local Development 
Plan, which will guide and coordinate development across the 1.6 hectare 
former Bristile Kiln site in Belmont. The local development plan seeks to 
establish a vision for comprehensive redevelopment of the site, and will:

 � explore options to redevelop the site to include a diverse mix of land 
uses, including residential development

 � provide guidance on the management and interpretation of the site’s 
heritage structures, including detail on how the remaining heritage 
kilns and stacks can be integrated with future development
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Revised regulations

In October 2015 new Planning and Development (Local Planning 
Schemes) Regulations 2015 came into effect to streamline and simplify 
planning application and approval processes throughout the State. 
This was a major implementation milestone of the State Government’s 
Planning Reform Phase Two agenda. The new regulations apply to all 
local governments and replace Town Planning Regulations 1967 and the 
associated model scheme text. 

The Regulations, made under the Planning and Development Act 2005 
(the Act), govern the way in which local planning strategies and local 
planning schemes are prepared, consolidated and amended. They provide 
for: 

 � The requirement, preparation and adoption of local planning 
strategies

 � The preparation, adoption, amendment, review and consolidation of 
local planning schemes, supplementing Part 5 of the Act

 � Development contribution areas and plan provisions

 � Model provisions for local planning schemes provided as Schedule 
1 Model provisions, and mandatory provisions which apply to all 
planning schemes as Schedule 2 Deemed provisions

 � A common set of general and land use definitions 

 � A set of standard forms relating to development approval

In an effort to help local governments, homeowners, developers and 
industry professionals understand the new regulations, and to ensure 
a smooth transition, the WAPC also released a regulations ‘frequently 
asked questions’ document, flowcharts, timeframe matrix, and simplified 
templates and forms; updated delegations to officers of the WAPC; 
structure plan framework (replacement for the Structure Plan Preparation 
Guidelines 2012); a submissions report on the regulations; and a Review 
of Local Planning Schemes document.
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Design WA

Part of the State Government’s Planning Reform Phase Two agenda 
was a commitment that the WAPC would further investigate the 
mechanisms that could be used to improve built form and place design 
outcomes. Throughout 2015/16 significant progress has been made 
towards this commitment. On behalf of the WAPC, the Department 
of Planning has been working closely and continuously with the Office 
of the Government Architect and about 150 key planning, design and 
development stakeholders to develop guidelines that will sit under a 
Design WA banner. Design WA will include a number of initiatives: 

 � A state planning policy for the design of the built environment 

 � A state planning policy for apartment design that will be more 
performance based and responsive to multi-unit specific issues

 � An implementation and training program

Bushfire reforms

On behalf of the WAPC, the Department developed a bushfire policy 
framework as part of the Government’s package of reforms to help 
protect lives and property against the threat of bushfires throughout 
Western Australia. These reforms introduce new requirements for people 
intending to develop and/or build in bushfire prone areas, including the 
need to assess a property’s bushfire risk and take additional construction 
measures to limit the impact of bushfires. 

As part of the reforms, the Planning and Development (Local Planning 
Schemes) Amendment Regulations 2015 were introduced and came into 
effect on 8 April 2016. This complemented the release of State Planning 
Policy 3.7 Planning in Bushfire Prone Areas and associated guidelines 
in December 2015. SPP 3.7 supersedes the bushfire sections of SPP 3.4 
Natural Hazards and Disasters and the Guidelines for Planning in Bushfire 
Prone Areas replace the previous Planning for Bush Fire Protection 
Guidelines.

As was intended at the time of the regulations coming into effect the 
Department, on behalf of the WAPC, has initiated a review of the 
regulations following six months of operation. The purpose of the review 
is to identify and address issues in the implementation of the reform 
initiatives delivered through the regulations. The review is anticipated to 
be complete by the end of 2016.

Strategic policy reviews

During 2015/16 the WAPC reiterated the importance of having a 
coherent policy framework by initiating a systematic review of state 
planning policies. State planning policies are prepared and adopted by 
the WAPC under statutory procedures set out in Part 3 of the Act.

The process of preparing a state planning policy includes public 
consultation and consideration by the Planning Minister and the 
Governor. The WAPC has tasked the Department of Planning with 
reviewing and making recommendations to the WAPC to ensure 
relevance and publishing in a format that provides a clear and 
accountable policy framework for WAPC instruments and decisions. 
In June 2016, the WAPC’s Policy Planning Framework was introduced, 
providing ready online access to all planning policies for the first time. 
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SPP 3.1 Residential Design Codes

The WAPC’s State Planning Policy 3.1 Residential Design Codes 
(R-Codes) were amended to better control apartment development in 
suburban areas. The changes affect rules for parking and the formula for 
calculating the number of apartments allowed in areas coded R30 and 
R35 as well as potentially in areas coded R40 that are more than 800 
metres from key activity centers and train stations. The medium-density 
single house development standards issued by the WAPC in 2014-15 
were revised to ensure consistency with the Planning and Development 
(Local Planning Schemes) Regulations 2015 that came into effect in 
October 2015.

Coastal zone management 

Managed and led by the Department of Planning on behalf of the 
WAPC, a major new high resolution bathymetric LiDAR survey from 
Hillarys to Horrocks, including the Abrolhos Islands and four south west 
coastal estuaries, was undertaken. The survey will enable modelling of 
storm surge and sea level rise impacts and coastal vulnerability and will 
contribute to coastal hazard risk management and adaptation planning. 
Funding of $1.725 million was provided by the WAPC; Landgate; 
departments of fisheries, transport and water; State Emergency 
Management Committee; Mid-West Ports, City of Greater Geraldton and 
Northern Agricultural Catchments Council.

Coastwest and Coastal Management Plan 
Assistance Program (CMPAP) grants

More than $676,000 in funding was provided to coastal land managers 
and community organisations to undertake 29 projects via the 2015/16 
Coastwest and CMPAP grants.  

The Department of Planning, the Department of Fire and Emergency 
Services, and the Building Commission are working collaboratively to 
ensure that stakeholder issues relating to the implementation of the 
reforms are responded to appropriately.  

State Planning Policy 5.1

SPP 5.1 Land Use Planning in the Vicinity of Perth Airport was gazetted in 
July 2015. The objectives of SPP 5.1 are to:

 � protect Perth Airport from unreasonable encroachment by 
incompatible (noise sensitive) development, to provide for its ongoing 
development and operation

 � minimise the impact of airport operations on existing and future 
communities with reference to aircraft noise 

The policy underwent review to ensure it reflected changes in the 
airports Australian Noise Exposure Forecast (ANEF), on which the policy is 
predicated. The ANEF contours map, previously within the policy, is now 
only referenced in the policy to ensure that future updates of the ANEF 
will result in the corresponding policy measures applying immediately.  
The WAPC has endorsed the development of a state planning policy on 
land-use within the vicinity of aviation infrastructure across the State. This 
policy is likely to amalgamate the existing SPP 5.1 and 5.3 in the future. 
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Growing our regions
The WAPC supports the development and growth of regional 
Western Australia in undertaking its statutory and strategic functions 
as required under the Planning and Development Act 2005. During 
2015/16 the WAPC undertook its statutory functions and a range of 
associated activities that contributed to the prosperity and resilience 
of remote, regional and rural communities throughout the State.

In early 2016 the WAPC committed to holding two regional meetings 
per year. This will give WAPC members the opportunity to meet with 
local governments, and other key stakeholders to hear and observe first-
hand regional land-use planning issues. The WAPC held its first regional 
meeting in Albany in March 2016.

WAPC Regional Planning 
Frameworks
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WAPC
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Regional planning and infrastructure 
frameworks

In 2015 the WAPC, in partnership with regional development 
commissions, Regional Development Australia, and local 
governments, finalised regional planning and infrastructure 
frameworks for the State’s eight country planning regions. The 
purpose of each framework is to establish a regional vision and 
basis for decision-making. 

The next stage is to develop sub-regional planning strategies 
– preparation for the Central (Gingin to Kalbarri) and Leeuwin 
Naturaliste Coast strategies is already underway by the Department 
of Planning. The primary aim of the proposed strategies is to 
manage and plan for coastal growth by helping local governments 
implement State strategic issues in a sub-regional context, help 
decision making, and inform local planning documents such as 
local planning strategies and schemes.
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Ashburton North Strategic Industrial Area 
(ANSIA)

In October 2015 the WAPC released the draft Ashburton North Strategic 
Industrial Area Improvement Scheme No. 1 for public comment. The 
ANSIA, located 12 kilometres south west of the town of Onslow, is 
of strategic economic significance to the State. It provides for the 
development of liquefied natural gas production and domestic natural 
gas, other hydrocarbon based processing industries, and associated 
support industries.  

The purpose of the draft improvement scheme is to:

 � Create a strategic industrial estate comprising major hydrocarbon 
processing industries and synergistic services and/or facilities with 
viable port access

 � Ensure the safe and efficient use of land for the long-term industrial 
development of a strategic industrial area of regional, State and 
national significance

 � Provide an internationally competitive industrial estate that offers 
a layout designed to facilitate and encourage industry synergies, 
functional transport links and where possible, the sharing of 
infrastructure networks and corridors

 � Minimise and mitigate adverse impacts on the surrounding land, the 
terrestrial and marine environment, and the Onslow community

 � Ensure the appropriate separation and layout of land uses through 
appropriate internal and external buffers to prevent incompatible or 
conflicting land uses

Plan for Greater Bunbury

In April 2016 the WAPC’s draft Wanju District Structure Plan was released 
for public comment. 

The proposed new community of Wanju, east of Eaton and Millbridge, is 
a significant greenfield development planned for Greater Bunbury over 
the next few decades. It will provide an innovative change for Greater 
Bunbury through a sustainable mixed-use, high-density urban centre 
with a strong sense of place. Wanju will also support diverse economic 
and lifestyle options for the South-West’s growing population and will be 
home to 50,000 people in 20,000 residences.  

The draft Wanju District Structure Plan is an example of the strategic 
direction that WAPC will seek to adopt more frequently. Together with 
plans for the nearby Waterloo Industrial Park and ongoing development 
within existing urban areas of Bunbury, it will be a key driver for the area’s 
growth and success. 

Nambeelup industrial area

The WAPC’s Nambeelup Industrial Area District Structure Plan was 
also released in April 2016. It will guide the development of a modern 
industrial estate to stimulate major development planned for the Greater 
Bunbury region. This is a 30-year plan to develop Nambeelup industrial 
area, with proposals to rezone additional land for industrial purposes, and 
to plan for up to 30,000 new jobs in the region. 

Greater Geraldton plan 

The WAPC approved the Greater Geraldton Local Planning Strategy 
in November 2015, which is the City’s first local planning strategy 
and represents the land-use planning response to the City’s strategic 
community vision. The Strategy takes a long-term view based on an 
aspirational population of 100,000 people, with the expectation that it 
would be subject to periodical review and update. 
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Indian Ocean Territories

The Indian Ocean Territories (Cocos and Christmas Islands) are provided 
with a town planning service by the WAPC under a State-Commonwealth 
agreement. During 2015/16 the WAPC undertook limited activities in the 
Indian Ocean Territories.

Remote settlements

During 2015/16 the WAPC undertook the following in relation to remote 
settlements:

 � Drinking water source protection plans were prepared for remote 
settlements in the Shires of Derby/West Kimberley and Wyndham/
East Kimberley (Ngumpan, Joy Springs, Muludja, Kundat Djaru and 
Woolah).  

 � Layout plans were prepared under State Planning Policy 3.2 Aboriginal 
Settlements. During 2015/16 one new layout plan was endorsed and 
17 were amended.

Statutory determinations and advice

The WAPC determined, or the Minister for Planning determined on 
advice from the WAPC, the following statutory functions across regional 
Western Australia:

 � 545 subdivisions

 � 41 structure plans

 � Six local planning schemes 

 � 27 scheme amendments

 � Six region scheme amendments.

Additional regional highlights
During 2015/16 the WAPC also undertook the following in regional 
Western Australia:

 � Lower Great Southern Strategy endorsed and published

 � Yakamia Structure Plan, to guide the development of 352 hectares of 
land in Albany, endorsed and published

 � State Planning Policy 6.1 – Leeuwin Naturaliste Ridge (1998) 
determined to require performance review, in the form of a ‘report 
card’

 � Leeuwin Naturaliste Sub-Regional Planning Strategy determined to be 
required

 � City of Busselton Local Planning Strategy consent to advertise 
determined

 � City of Bunbury Local Planning Scheme No.8 and Local Planning 
Strategy consent to advertise determined

 � Augusta-Margaret River Local Tourism Planning Strategy endorsed by 
the WAPC

 � City of Karratha Local Planning Strategy consent to advertise 
determined

 � Shire of East Pilbara Local Planning Strategy consent to advertise 
determined

 � Kimberley Regional Planning and Infrastructure Framework endorsed 
and published

 � Halls Creek Local Planning Strategy endorsed and published

 � Shire of Wyndham East Kimberley Local Planning Scheme and strategy 
determined to be suitable for release for public comment

 � Glenfield Beach and Buller structure plans, in the City of Greater 
Geraldton and Shire of Chapman Valley respectively, determined

 � City of Greater Geraldton Local Planning Scheme No. 1 determined
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 � Wanneroo Road

 � Charles Street

 � Stirling Highway

 � Mitchell Freeway (Alkimos)

 � Rowley Road (Hope Valley)

Other regional roads

 � Lord streets, East Perth and Bassendean

 � Scarborough Beach Road 

 � Main St, Balcatta (three properties)

 � Walcott Street

 � William Street

Railways 

Two properties totaling 15.64 hectares were purchased for the extension 
of the northern suburbs railway at a cost of $15.78 million. These 
purchases represent 2.6 kilometres of the future rail corridor at Alkimos 
and Eglinton.

This core service involves the acquisition, management and disposal of 
properties reserved under the metropolitan, Peel and Greater Bunbury 
region schemes. It is for primary and other regional roads, parks and 
recreation, regional open space areas, special uses including planning 
control areas and improvement plans, and major land development 
projects.

Property acquisition

The WAPC’s land acquisition program for 2015/16 included the purchase 
or payment of compensation for 51 properties totaling 902.9 hectares at 
a cost of $117.26 million.

Major land purchases

Roads 

In meeting strategic infrastructure plans for the future, a total of 27 
properties were purchased comprising 56.54 hectares at a cost of $20.34 
million for the following road types:

Primary regional roads 
 � Boyanup Bypass

 � Pinjarra Road

 � South West Highway (Armadale)

 � Shepperton Road 

 � Guildford Road (two properties)

 � Canning Highway (five properties)

 � Perth-Adelaide Highway (two properties)

 � Roe Highway 

asset management services
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Parks and recreation (regional open space)

One property comprising 90 hectares was purchased at a cost of $13.46 
million at Alkimos for regional open space, which includes 10 hectares for 
active sporting facilities. 

River and ocean foreshores

During the financial year the WAPC continued the long-standing 
government policy of bringing the ocean and major river foreshores 
into public ownership for future access. Eight properties were acquired 
involving 7.34 hectares. Six were purchased at a total cost of $1.77 
million. Two (Alkimos and Secret Harbour) were transferred to the WAPC 
free of cost to implement foreshore management arrangements by 
developers to provide public beach facilities (a kiosk and Surf Lifesaving 
facilities respectively):

 � Indian Ocean foreshore at Alkimos (two properties).

 � Canning River (two properties)

 � Southern River

 � Swan River (two properties)

 � Secret Harbour

Regional parks

Twelve properties comprising 261 hectares were purchased at a cost of 
$20.05 million for regional parks in the metropolitan, Peel and Greater 
Bunbury region schemes: 

 � Beeliar Regional Park (0.62 hectares) – The Spectacles 

 � Peel Regional Park (three properties at North Yunderup and South 
Yunderup) 

 � Rockingham Lakes Regional Park ($5.65 million compensation paid) in 
respect of 94 hectares of Paganoni Swamp which represents 100 per 
cent of land value

 � Preston River to Ocean Regional Park (six properties)

 � Leschenault Regional Park. 

Bush Forever

Four properties comprising 458 hectares were purchased at a cost of 
$36.21 million for Bush Forever sites: 

 � Harrisdale Swamp and adjoining bushland (site 253) 

 � Passmore Street bushland (site 465)

 � Forrestdale Lake Nature Reserve and adjacent bushland (site 345)

 � Neerabup Lake (sites 383 and 293)
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Property disposals 
Property disposals comprise predominantly of remainder land purchased 
for strategic reserve purposes that are surplus to requirements following 
changes to regional planning. Surplus land may also include subdivided 
land where the WAPC purchases whole lots, with the agreement of 
the owner (when only part is required). The lot is then subdivided and 
the required portion transferred to the end Government land user 
(for example Main Roads WA) and the surplus balance is available for 
disposal.

During 2015/16, 11 lots totaling 65.26 hectares, were transferred free 
of cost to the State Government for parks and recreational purposes 
including the Brixton Street Wetlands (Bush Forever Site 387), the 
Canning River Regional Park and the Serpentine River foreshore. 

Thirty seven lots were dedicated free of cost for other regional roads 
within the cities of South Perth, Canning, Gosnells, Vincent, Stirling, 
Rockingham, and Mandurah, and the Town of Victoria Park and Shire of 
Kalamunda.  

Five lots acquired for the Perth to Bunbury (Forrest) Highway were 
transferred at nil cost to Main Roads WA, who provided the funds to 
settle the acquisitions. 

A further nine lots were transferred to Main Roads WA for $2.22 million 
for the Perth Freight Link, and one property was sold to the Public 
Transport Authority for $1.6 million for a new bus layover as part of the 
Charles Street bus bridge and busway project. An additional two lots 
were sold to the Housing Authority for $477,500 for affordable housing 
initiatives.  

The WAPC paid $4.5million to the Metropolitan Redevelopment 
Authority to complete the first stage of the Lloyd Street southern 
extension at Midland. The project involved the construction of the road 
from the Great Eastern Highway to Clayton Street with an underpass 

of the rail freight lines. The WAPC funding was a contribution to the 
underpass having previously provided land acquired for the project free 
of cost. The project ensures continuity of access to the new Midland 
Hospital.

The WAPC continues to be an interim land manager, however in 
circumstances where land is no longer required, it disposes of these 
parcels at market value on the open market as part of the Government’s 
land asset disposal program. Proceeds of sale are reinvested in the 
respective region planning schemes and primarily used to compensate 
land owners affected by long-term public use reservations.

Seven properties were sold by private treaty and by land exchange for a 
total of $8.64 million including five lots in Holmes Street, Southern River 
following the removal of this regional road from the Metropolitan Region 
Scheme. The WAPC acquired a four hectare future primary school and a 
cash adjustment in exchange for the Holmes Street land sold. 

A further nine lots were sold to LandCorp for $21.1 million for future 
residential and industrial developments including McNicholl Street 
Rockingham, Port Kennedy Drive Port Kennedy, Hay Road Ascot, 
McTaggart Cove North Coogee and Pipidinny Road Eglinton. 

The WAPC also transferred two lots totaling 4890 square metres to Atlas 
Brick Pty Ltd at nil cost in accordance with a land exchange agreement 
which was entered into in 2012 to allow the WAPC to progress the 
acquisition of regional open space in Mirrabooka.
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Port Kennedy Development Agreement Act 
1992
The Department, on behalf of the WAPC, assists the Minister to facilitate 
the development of Crown land in the City of Rockingham, known as 
the Port Kennedy Development, in accordance with the Port Kennedy 
Development Agreement Act 1992 (the Act). The Act provides for Crown 
land to be granted under a three-stage development to Western Australia 
Beach and Golf Resort Pty Ltd (WABGR). In exchange, WABGR construct 
and provide the State with agreed public work infrastructure items. The 
intention is to provide a coastal residential, recreational and tourism 
development for the benefit of the local and wider community.

The development has faced various challenges over the years and, most 
recently following a WAPC position in 2012 prescribing increased 100 
year setbacks for coastal developments, the project as agreed under the 
Act became unviable. The Minister therefore requested the Department 
work with WABGR to find a way to progress the project notwithstanding 
the revised setbacks.

The Department has undertaken a comprehensive review of the project 
and is working with WABGR and the Office of the Valuer General 
to reframe the project. Various potential development options and 
public works are being considered with the aim of creating a viable 
development that meets the community’s needs.  

A reframed project has been negotiated, however will require the existing 
Act to be repealed and replaced by a normalised planning framework and 
development agreement in order for the project to proceed. A normalised 
planning framework will ensure the project proceeds through a fully 
transparent and open public consultation process.  

Whiteman Park
Whiteman Park has continued to build a reputation for excellence in park 
management and is now recognised as one of the most popular family 
and tourist destinations in Perth with 900,000 visitors yearly — and 
growing. 

The growing popularity of the park within both domestic and 
international tourist markets has been due in large part to the continued 
investment in providing high quality facilities, services and product that 
define Whiteman Park and set it apart from other destinations.

It is anticipated that the park’s popularity will continue to grow at a 
steady rate as urban development increases in the Swan Valley and the 
park’s national and international reputation as a “must see” tourist 
destination continues to build. 

In December 2015, the WAPC approved the Whiteman Park 5 Year 
Management Plan 2015-2020, a blueprint for the direction of the park 
and its community groups over the next five years and beyond to cater 
for increased visitation and ensure long-term sustainability. 

The plan is a continuation of the work achieved through the Whiteman 
Park 5 Year Management Plan 2009-2014 and outlines the business 
direction, infrastructure projects and community partnership projects the 
park is likely to undertake to meet the demands of future growth and 
popularity.

This year, volunteers engaged directly by Whiteman Park contributed 
7,131 hours of their time to help the park achieve many goals. At an 
estimated value of $32.30 per volunteer hour, this equated to a monetary 
value of $231,757.50 for the year. Volunteers assisted with many of the 
park’s operations including working in the Visitor Information Centre and 
Revolutions Transport Museum, and helping with education programs, 
tours, public events, and environmental programs. 
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In 2015, the park was recognised by the WA Heritage Awards for the 
work Revolutions Transport Museum and the various Transport heritage 
groups do in maintaining a collection of heritage vehicles relating to 
public transport in Western Australia. 

Once again, the park was a finalist in the 2015 WA Tourism Awards in 
the Major Tourist Attraction category.

In 2016, the park and transport heritage groups participated in the 
Australia-wide 2016 Heritage Festival. This was the third year the park 
had contributed to the festival and was a major success. 

Whiteman Park also hosted a workshop for the Australian Institute of 
Conservation of Cultural Materials featuring internationally recognised 
conservator David Hallam and attracting delegates from as far as 
Tasmania and New South Wales.

Revolutions Transport Museum celebrated 10 years of operation by 
staging the 10 Years of Change in Transport in WA exhibition, reflecting 
on the changes in public transport over the past 10 years. The exhibition 
was partnered and supported by the RAC, E-bikesrus and the Public 
Transport Authority.

Whiteman Park continued to be a leader in environmental management, 
and during 2015/2016 more than 12,000 wetland and woodland species 
were planted throughout the park in select locations to provide habitat 
and increase biodiversity. Community groups, schools and corporate 
groups were integral to the planting program. A special wetland planting 
project in the vicinity of Mussel Pool included the establishment of over 
3000 rush and reed species with the aim of improving the water quality 
of the pool.

Autumn of 2016 saw the introduction of 20 brush tail possums through 
a partnership with the University of Western Australian and Perth Zoo. 
Possums from the Perth Zoo grounds were relocated to Whiteman Park 
to supplement the current population.
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 � The Western Australian Model Aircraft State Centre located in 
Whiteman Park held the 2016 World Control Line Championships, 
the first time the event has been held outside of Europe. The event 
was very successful with competitors from a number of international 
locations taking part.

 � In partnership with the Public Transport Authority, a trial bus route 
directly into the park was made available for the first time, giving 
visitors the ability to ride public transport to get directly into the 
Whiteman Village. The bus stop is located adjacent to the Visitor 
Information Centre.

Capital works

This year the park successfully completed approximately $1.2 million in 
capital works projects that added to the other great facilities within the 
park. These included:

 � The replacement of the village vista playground. The new play 
equipment includes activities to cater from toddlers to early teens with 
a variety of challenging and modern activities. 

 � Construction of a raised decking, lighting and pathway within 
woodland reserve to cater for wheel chairs, prams and other mobility 
assistance devices to expand our audience for woodland nocturnal 
tours.

 � New pedestrian and bike paths were installed from Lord St to the 
village, the village through to Mussel Pool and other areas within the 
park to make access around the park more user-friendly.

 � Construction of an information bay and shelter located at the 
observation deck at Whiteman Drive West to cater for cars and 
coaches entering the park from Beechboro Rd.

 � Asphalt surfacing and car bay line marking to a number of car parks 
in the village. 

In addition, a further nine tammar wallabies were introduced from 
Karakamia, an Australian Wildlife Conservancy in the Perth hills, adding 
significantly to the genetic diversity of the current population in the 
woodland reserve. Two emus and two black gloved wallabies now also 
call the reserve home following coordination with the Department of 
Parks and Wildlife to provide a safe place for this displaced fauna.

The current woylie population within the woodland reserve is recovering 
well from the 2014 bushfire, with numbers estimated at 187. Ongoing 
work with Murdoch University on woylie health, density and distribution 
has led to the drafting of a number of scientific papers, with three being 
completed for publication.

The park has built on its past successes and this year there have been a 
number of major achievements and infrastructure projects that have been 
successfully undertaken by the staff and the Whiteman Park community.

Community partnerships

Whiteman Park had a number of success stories involving partnerships 
with various community groups that call the park home. These included:

 � Assisting the Motor Museum of Western Australia in securing a 
Lotterywest grant valued at $712,000. The grant will be used to 
construct a second building that will double the capacity of the 
museum, as well as an education centre and workshop area so 
apprentice mechanics can come to the museum and work on vehicles.

 � Pia’s Place: The signing of a Memorandum of Understanding between 
the WAPC and Pia’s Place partners Amy and Tony Rudd, the Touched 
By Olivia Foundation and the Lions Club of Noranda for the eventual 
construction of a nature play all-access play area to be located 
opposite the dog park at Mussel Pool east.
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 � Landscaping of the village car park to improve the aesthetics of the 
area.

 � Upgrading of the toilet block at Mussel Pool West including new 
tiling, water efficient cisterns and new wash facilities.

 � Construction of shade sails and decking within the Children’s Forest.

 � Construction of limestone firebreak tracks and emergency escape 
routes.

 � Replacement and upgrade of various park vehicles.

Field management
The Department of Planning provides services to the WAPC, which 
includes management of its property portfolio and land estate. During 
2015/16 the estate, comprising land identified in the Metropolitan, Peel 
and Greater Bunbury Region Schemes, continued to be managed for the 
purposes the land is reserved for under each scheme and in light of the 
WAPC’s role as an interim land manager. 

The Department manages approximately 14,350 hectares of land across 
the three region schemes. Primary management operations included 
fire mitigation, fencing and access control, control of alien flora and 
fauna species, rubbish removal and liaison with neighbours and future 
land managers. Illegal access and misuse of WAPC land is a significant 
financial and environmental concern to the Department, and to address 
this, the Department has undertaken additional surveillance and related 
programs across the WAPC estate in conjunction with other relevant 
State government departments and local government authorities.  

The Department is involved in revegetation, civil works and improvement 
programs where these meet the region scheme requirements as well 
as local and State government priorities. The Department continues 
to work with local community representatives and Landcare groups to 
ensure that, where possible, public access to the estate is possible and 
enhanced through revegetation and other programs. The Department 

continues to engage expert advice and service provision to undertake 
significant operational works and is closely guided by State procurement 
requirements and financial management practice as it undertakes its 
annual programs.

Rental management
The WAPC has, as part of its asset acquisition program, a number 
of properties that have been purchased in preparation for future 
infrastructure developments and regional open space. These properties 
are suitable for, and consequently managed as, commercial or private 
residential rentals until required for a schemes-intended purpose. Rental 
rates for each property are benchmarked against industry standard rates 
for their respective areas and the Department abides by the Residential 
Tenancies Act in applying rates for all residential tenancies and the 
Commercial Tenancies Act for its commercial tenancy rates.

During 2015/16, there were 216 residential and 61 commercial 
properties in the metropolitan area, plus 11 residential properties and 
one commercial property in regional areas that were rented or leased 
under the Residential Tenancies or Commercial Tenancies Act. The WAPC 
received $5,916,483 in rent from these portfolios.
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Ministerial directives

There were no ministerial directives during 2015/16.

Governance

The WAPC’s strategic plan aligns with the Department of Planning’s 
strategic plan and with the State Government’s performance 
management framework that guides the development of policies, 
programs and services.

Figure 3: WAPC continuous strategic planning cycle

governance and other disclosures
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2016 Client satisfaction survey

Each year a client satisfaction survey is carried out on the operations of 
the WAPC and the Department of Planning to ensure that our standard 
of service more than adequately meets client’s needs. Survey results are 
used to inform the WAPC’s key performance indicators. 

The 2016 survey found that overall satisfaction with the WAPC Chair and 
committees in providing strategic direction in metropolitan and regional 
planning was above 75 per cent, an improvement on previous years’.

SATISFACTION WITH 
WAPC 

2012/13 
% 

2013/14 
% 

2014/15 
% 

2015/16 
% 

Metropolitan Planning 66.4 59.1 70.7 75.8 

Regional Planning 66.8 62.1 64.5 75.9 
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Audit and Risk Management Committee

At its 9 February 2016 meeting, under delegated authority, the Executive 
Finance and Property Committee approved the establishment of an 
Audit and Risk Management Committee for the WAPC. The new 
Committee has three members, comprising of elected members of the 
Executive Finance and Property Committee. The primary objective of the 
Committee is to improve the credibility and objectivity of the WAPC’s 
governance framework and accountability processes.

The WAPC Secretary and the Chief Finance Officer are invited to attend 
as observers. The Committee has a formal Charter. The Committee’s 
inaugural meeting was held on 8 June, 2016.

Internal audit

In accordance with a Service Delivery Agreement between the 
Department of Planning and the WAPC, the Department’s internal audit 
function provides an independent and objective assurance and consulting 
service to the WAPC. Internal Audit conducts comprehensive audits in 
accordance with an endorsed Internal Audit Charter and Audit Program. 
The key reviews undertaken in 2015/16 included:

 � Corporate Key Performance Indicators

 � Management of Contaminated Sites

In addition, Internal Audit conducted a number of reviews to provide the 
Department with assurance that adequate and appropriate controls were 
in place for various functions and activities that are undertaken by the 
Department on behalf of the WAPC. For 2015/16, these audits included:

 � Complaints Management and Reporting

 � Lodgement and Processing of Planning Applications

The recommendations emanating from internal audit reviews that impact 
on the WAPC are managed and monitored through the Department’s 
Audit Recommendation Management System. The system enables 
officers with responsibility for actioning matters to view, update and 
request to clear audit issues at any time. Progress reporting on the status 
of implementation of internal audit recommendations impacting on the 
WAPC was previously reported to the Executive Finance and Property 
Committee, but is now reported to the Audit and Risk Management 
Committee.

External audit

Apart from the Office of the Auditor General’s annual financial attest 
audit, the WAPC was not included in any other specific audits in 
2015/16. Recommendations from external audit reviews that impact on 
the WAPC are managed and monitored through the Department’s Audit 
Recommendation Management System. Prior to the establishment of the 
Audit and Risk Management Committee, progress reporting on the status 
of implementation of external audit recommendations impacting on the 
WAPC was reported to the Executive Finance and Property Committee.
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Probity

Advertising and marketing expenditure

In accordance with Section 175 ZE of the Electoral Act 1907 the WAPC 
incurred the following expenditure with advertising, market research, 
polling, direct mail and media advertising.

Major capital projects

Details of major capital projects at 30 June 2016 on accordance with 
Treasurer’s Instruction 903 Section 13 (ii) (a) (b) are listed below:

ADVERTISING AND MARKETING EXPENDITURE

Western Australian Planning Commission

Adcorp Australia Limited

Datatrax Pty Limited

Facebook

Orberwill Pty Ltd o/a The Digital Imagineers Company

On Topic Media Pty Ltd

Optimum Media Decisions (WA) Limited

129,728.12

804.54

316.17

15,000.00

1,750.02

119,980.01

TOTAL 267,578.86

PROJECT NAME
EXPECTED 
YEAR OF 
COMPLETION

EST COST TO 
COMPLETE 

$’000

EST TOTAL 
COST OF 
PROJECT 

$’000

Western Australian Planning Commission

Acquisition of Land Ongoing 84,185 87,369

Regional Land Acquisition Ongoing 20,757 18,290
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MAYOR HENRY ZELONES OAM JP

Local government (metropolitan) 
representative

Mayor Henry Zelones OAM JP was elected as 
a councillor at the City of Armadale in 1989. 
He is a serving member of the WA Local 
Government Association State Council (2005) 
and Deputy Commissioner WAPC (2004) 
and Commissioner WAPC (2010). He served 
as Chairman of the Armadale Development/ 
Planning Services Committee, a position he 
has held for 20 years. Mayor Zelones has 
also been a board member of the Armadale 
Redevelopment Authority (2002-2011), the 
Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority’s 
Armadale Local Redevelopment Committee 
(2011 – 2015) and the State Heritage Council 
(2008-2013). 

Mayor Zelones has been closely involved 
with local government reform, chairing 
WALGA’s Planning Reform Policy Forum and 
local government reform committees. He has 
extensive experience in private industry, having 
establishing his own business in 1971. He has 
served as a board member of the WA Chamber 
of Commerce and a member of the local 
Business Association for more than 30 years. 
He also has a background in information and 
communication technologies.

MR ERIC LUMSDEN PSM

Chairman

Eric Lumsden was formally appointed Western 
Australian Planning Commission Chair in 2013, 
following 12 months in that role while also 
concluding six years as the Director General for 
the Department for Planning and Infrastructure 
(and latterly the Department of Planning). 

He was previously CEO of the City of Melville 
and the City of Swan. Mr Lumsden holds 
masters degrees in town planning and business 
administration, and post graduate qualifications 
in local government and social sciences, and 
has been a leading planning professional with 
over 45 years’ experience.

He is a life fellow of the Planning Institute of 
Australia, fellow of the Australian Institute of 
Management, fellow of the Institute of Public 
Administration, and fellow and past president 
of the WA division of the Local Government 
Managers Association. In 2005 Mr Lumsden 
was awarded a Public Service Medal for his 
contribution to local government, especially in 
the area of economic development. In 2012 he 
was made a National Fellow of the Institute of 
Public Administration of Australia and in 2015 
was awarded the Dr Ken Michael Gold Medal 
by the Institute of Public Works Engineering 
Australia.

Appendix 1: Western Australian Planning Commission members (as at 30 June 2016)

appendices

CR VERONICA FLEAY

Local government (non-metropolitan) 
representative

Veronica (Ronnie) Fleay has an extensive record 
of high-level community, State Government 
and local government service, as well as several 
years’ experience as a small business operator. 
Kojonup-born Ms Fleay lived in Exmouth for 12 
years before returning to the Great Southern in 
2011. She has served as Chair of the Gascoyne 
Development Commission and sat on the 
Gascoyne Regional Council, the Western 
Australian Planning Commission, the Ningaloo 
Coast Planning Committee, Western Australian 
Local Government Association and the Great 
Southern Development Commission. Former 
President of the Shire of Exmouth, Ms Fleay is 
currently Kojonup Shire President.
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DR GARRY MIDDLE

PH.D.; M. Phil. (Urban Studies); C.Sc. (Hons 
Env. Sc.); S.SC. (Chem) Dip. Ed.

Coastal Planning and Management 
Representative

Dr Garry Middle is an adjunct senior research 
fellow at Curtin University, and is the 
Director of independent research company 
Vision Environment. He has more than 30 
years’ experience in environment planning, 
coastal planning, policy and governance; 
environmental impact assessment; and strategic 
environmental assessment; working with State 
and local governments as a consultant and an 
academic.

Dr Middle was previously the Appeals 
Convenor for the Minister for Environment and 
prior to that was Director, Environment and 
Natural Resource Planning at the Department 
for Planning and Infrastructure; Manager, 
Strategic Planning and Environment at the City 
of Rockingham; and Manager, Environmental 
Planning Branch servicing the Environmental 
Protection Authority. Dr Middle sits on the 
Planning Institute of Australia’s National 
Education Committee, is a member of the 
International Association of Impact Assessment 
and is chair of Great Victoria Desert Biodiversity 
Trust, an independent trust fund. 

MR PAUL DRECHSLER

Professional representative

Paul Drechsler, former Group Managing 
Director of national architectural and 
planning practice, Hames Sharley, has been 
a Commissioner of the Western Australian 
Planning Commission since 2010. As a 
professional Town Planner, Geographer and 
Land Economist Mr Drechsler has 40 years’ 
experience in urban and regional planning, 
commercial and retail development feasibility 
studies, urban design and large-scale land 
development.

Mr Drechsler has a double major in geography 
and biological science and is a PhD candidate at 
the University of Western Australia. His research 
focus is on the retail sector; place consumption, 
experiential shopping environments and the 
impact of digital technologies and e-commerce 
on physical retail platforms.

He is Deputy Presiding Member of the North 
West Metropolitan Development Assessment 
Panel and an alternate Deputy Presiding 
Member for all metropolitan development 
assessment panels. Mr Dreschler’s professional 
affiliations include Fellow of the Planning 
Institute of Australia, Fellow of the Australian 
Property Institute and member of the Institute 
of Australian Geographers.

PROFESSOR ROBERT HARVEY

Professional representative

Professor Robert Harvey commenced his career 
as an engineer in the then Water Authority, 
specialising in resource management, planning 
and policy. His last position in the Authority 
was as Director Water Resources Planning. As 
an Executive Director at the Department of 
Justice from 1999 to 2003, he was responsible 
for community corrections, juvenile justice and 
correctional policy. He oversaw the introduction 
of the State’s first privately operated prison and 
made significant improvements to an important 
part of the State’s criminal justice system. 

From 2003 to 2009 Professor Harvey was Pro 
Vice-Chancellor and Dean of Business and Law 
at Edith Cowan University. He was a member 
of the Board of the Water Corporation from 
2007 to 2012. Since 2012 Professor Harvey has 
been Deputy Chairman of the Environmental 
Protection Authority. He is also a Director of the 
Winston Churchill Memorial Trust Australia and 
Chairman of the Western Australian Division of 
the Trust.
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MR GLEN KELLY
(membership expired 31.12.15)

Indigenous interests representative

Mr Glen Kelly is the Chief Executive Officer of 
the National Native Title Council and former 
Chief Executive Officer of the South West 
Aboriginal Land and Sea Council, the Native 
Title representative body for the South West of 
Western Australia. 

He is a Wardandi Noongar man and possesses a 
Bachelor of Environmental Science degree.

Mr Kelly has been working in the Aboriginal 
community sector since the early 1990s and 
specifically in protected area, land and cultural 
resource management and, since 2001, in the 
area of native title. He has served on a number 
of committees and statutory boards at both 
Australian and State levels.

MS GAIL MCGOWAN

Director General, Department of Planning

Gail McGowan was appointed Director General 
of the Department of Planning in April 2014. 

As Director General of the Department, a key 
priority of Ms McGowan’s has been ensuring 
that the State Government and WAPC’s 
comprehensive planning reform agenda is 
delivered. 

Ms McGowan has also overseen the 
development by the Department of Planning 
of the WAPC’s suite of draft strategic 
land use planning documents, Perth and 
Peel@3.5million, to consider how best to 
accommodate a population of 3.5 million 
people by 2050. 

Ms McGowan is a highly regarded leader and 
negotiator across industry, government and 
the wider community and has previously held 
senior positions at the Department of State 
Development and Worksafe. 

Ms McGowan is a Graduate of the Australian 
Institute of Company Directors and member of 
Chief Executive Women of Australia.

MR MIKE ROWE

Director General, Department of Water

Mike Rowe has been the Acting Director 
General of the Department of Water since 
November 2014 and was appointed Director 
General in June 2016. 

He is an experienced member of the Western 
Australian Government’s senior executive 
service, having worked in a variety of 
leadership, policy, advisory and delivery roles 
across nine agencies since 1993 including 
agriculture, environment, Aboriginal affairs, the 
Public Sector Commission, Premier and Cabinet 
and regional development. 
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MR REECE WALDOCK

Director General, Department of Transport

Mr Reece Waldock has more than 25 years’ 
experience in strategic management with 
particular expertise in organisational reform.

He held a number of senior executive roles 
within the Department of Commerce and Trade 
and the Department of Transport.

Prior to his career with the WA public 
sector, Mr Waldock held a number of senior 
management roles with BHP.

In 2000, following the sale of the rail freight 
business of the Western Australian Government 
Railways Commission, he acted in the position 
of Commissioner of Railways.

With the creation of the Public Transport 
Authority in 2003, Mr Waldock was appointed 
as the inaugural CEO and oversaw the 
integration of all statewide public transport 
services, together with a major construction 
program, which included the Mandurah 
Railway.

In 2010, the State Government integrated its 
three key transport agencies and Mr Waldock 
was appointed to head the Transport fortfolio, 
consisting of the Department of Transport, 
Main Roads WA and the Public Transport 
Authority. 

MR JASON BANKS

Director General, Department of 
Environment Regulation

Jason Banks was appointed as the inaugural 
position of Director-General of the Department 
of Environment Regulation in 2014 following 
12 months of acting in the role after the 
department’s creation in July 2013. He led the 
formation of the agency, overseeing more than 
300 staff and driving a range of reforms.

Mr Banks has extensive management 
experience and has worked more than two 
decades at a range of State Government 
agencies including as CEO and Co-ordinator 
of Energy at the Office of Energy. He has also 
worked as a senior adviser with the Department 
of State Development and as a management 
consultant with the Public Sector Commission. 

MR STEPHEN WOOD

B. Psych; M. Pub. Admin.

Director General, Department of State 
Development

Stephen Wood commenced his current position 
in May 2011. He has held a variety of positions 
across the Commonwealth and State public 
sectors. He was previously Deputy Director 
General, Strategic Issues at the Department 
of Premier and Cabinet and Commissioner 
of the Western Australian Industrial Relations 
Commission. 
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MR PAUL WHYTE

Acting Chief Executive Officer, Housing 
Authority

Since March 2015, Mr Whyte has been 
Acting Chief Executive Officer of the Housing 
Authority and Acting Director General of the 
Department of Housing, and was previously 
General Manager of the Commercial 
Operations Division. 

Mr Whyte has broad experience in the private 
and public sectors. Before joining the Housing 
Authority in September 2009, he was Acting 
Chief Executive Officer at Landgate and 
has also held senior roles with the Valuer 
General’s Office and the Department of Land 
Information. In late 2014, Mr Whyte held 
the position of Acting Director General of 
the Department of Regional Development, 
overseeing the Government’s Royalties for 
Regions program. 

MR ROSS THORNTON

Local government (non-metropolitan) 
representative

Mr Ross Thornton is a qualified town planner, 
registered builder and is presently farming in 
Denmark. Much of his early career focused 
on residential/commercial and subdivisional 
development.

Mr Thornton was the Shire President (Denmark) 
until October 2015, is a current member of 
the Statutory Planning Committee and Deputy 
Chair of the Great Southern Development 
Commission. His focus is on coordinating and 
supporting endeavours that build a strong 
and integrated regional economy through 
appropriate regional development.

Associate member

MR DAVID (RALPH) ADDIS

Director General, Department of Regional 
Development

Mr Addis was appointed as Director General 
of the Department of Regional Development 
in November 2014. He is currently involved 
with the oversight of the State Government’s 
Regional Development agenda, which aims 
to build the socio-economic foundations for 
development, drive growth, and attract new 
investment, as a key to the future prosperity of 
our regions.  

Previously, Mr Addis was founding CEO of 
Wunan, an Aboriginal development agency 
in the Kimberley committed to providing 
Aboriginal people with opportunity through 
education, housing, and employment, where 
he helped build significant commercial assets, 
a major regional employment services business, 
and the innovative Transitional Housing model. 
He also chaired  the Kimberley Development 
Commission for two years and held roles with 
the WA Regional Development Council and 
the WA Regional Development Trust.

Mr Addis is a chartered accountant and 
economist.
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Deputy members for local 
government representatives
Metropolitan – CR MICHAEL HUSTON 
(Membership expired 16.01.16) 

Non-metropolitan – CR VALERIE AMMON
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Number of meetings and 
reports

Western Australian Planning 
Commission

In 2015/16, the WAPC met 12 times and 
considered 141 reports. 

Western Australian Planning 
Commission committees:

Committees that met regularly throughout 
2015/16 were:

Executive, Finance and Property 
Committee
The committee performs the administrative, 
financial and property functions of the WAPC. 
Most of its activities centre on monitoring 
development projects, the acquisition and 
disposal of property and associated capital 
works. During 2015/16 the committee met 11 
times and considered 107 formal reports in 
addition to general strategic discussion.

Audit and Risk Management 
Committee
The Audit and Risk Management Committee is 
to operate as a sub-committee of the Executive, 
Finance and Property Committee and, as such, 
has been established under the delegated 
authority of, and has the full endorsement of 
the WAPC. During 2015/16 the committee met 
once and considered four formal reports in 
addition to general strategic discussion.

Statutory Planning Committee
The committee is the WAPC’s regulatory 
decision-making body. Its functions include 
approval of the subdivision of land, approval of 
leases and licenses, approval of strata schemes, 
advice to the Minister for Planning on local 
government town planning schemes and 
scheme amendments, and the determination 
of certain development applications under the 
Metropolitan Region Scheme. During 2015/16 
the committee met 22 times and considered 
274 formal reports in addition to general 
strategic discussion.

Infrastructure Coordinating 
Committee
The committee advises the WAPC on planning 
for the provision of physical and community 
infrastructure throughout the State. It has 
the powers to coordinate the metropolitan 
development program, the country land 
development program and the provision of 
infrastructure for land development. During 
2015/16 the committee met four times and 
considered 15 formal reports in addition to 
general strategic discussion.

Infrastructure Steering Group
The Infrastructure Steering Group is to 
provide advice and make recommendations 
to the WAPC (on behalf of the Infrastructure 
Coordinating Committee) on the planning, 
coordination and provision of physical and 
community infrastructure throughout the 
State. During 2015/16 the committee met two 
times and considered eight formal reports in 
addition to general strategic discussion.

Appendix 2: Western Australian Planning Commission committees and meetings
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Special purpose committees
The WAPC has created a number of special 
purposes committees to assist with its land-use 
planning activities across the State. Committees 
may have specific tasks or be established, as 
needed, to address a one-off situation. The 
WAPC sets the membership and terms of 
reference for these committees.

Central Perth Planning 
Committee
The committee was established to oversee 
and provide direction for planning in the Perth 
central area. It exercises delegated authority 
to deal with the City of Perth town planning 
scheme and scheme amendments; the 
Metropolitan Region Scheme and amendments; 
subdivisions, strata titles, leases and licenses; 
and development on reserved land within the 
City of Perth. During 2015/16 the committee 
met four times and considered nine formal 
reports in addition to general strategic 
discussion.

Regional committees
South West Region Planning 
Committee 
The committee is the longest established 
regional planning committee in the State. It 
undertakes strategic and statutory decision-
making for land planning matters in the South-
West region on behalf of the WAPC. It deals 
with the subdivision of land, local planning 
schemes and amendments, the Greater 
Bunbury Region Scheme and amendments 
and land development policies for the region. 
During 2015/16 the committee met five times 
and considered 32 formal reports in addition to 
general strategic discussion.

The Peel Regional Planning 
Committee
This committee was formed to oversee 
preparation of the Peel Region Scheme 
incorporating the local government districts 
of the City of Mandurah and the shires of 
Waroona and Murray. During 2015/16 the 
committee met twice and considered four 
formal reports in addition to general strategic 
discussion.
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SITTING FEES

Central Perth Planning Committee
Beck, Hamish Richard 500
Blackwell, Anthony Bowen 900
Butler, Robert John 200
Crowley, Margaret Anne 1,300
Fulker, Marion Celia 200
Scaffidi, Lisa-Michelle 600

Executive Finance and Property Committee
Frewing, Alexander Clifford 2,573
Strom, Rebecca Allison 4,778
Zelones, Henry Anthony 4,274

Peel Region Planning Committee
Beacham, Brenda Lillian 420
Chaney, Frederick Charles 420
Fitzpatrick, Paul Francis 420
Germain, Christine Ann 210
Vergone, Marina Elizabeth 210

Planning Commission
Drechsler, Paul John 13,700
Fleay, Veronica May 13,700
Harvey, Robert Anthony 12,558
Kelly, Glen Alan 6,850
Middle, Garry John 13,700
Thornton, Ross Douglas 13,700
Zelones, Henry Anthony 13,700

Appendix 3: Remuneration for committee members

SITTING FEES

South West Region Planning Committee
Brennan, Gary Peter 210
Dilley, Stephen Beresford 630
Hicks, Stuart Keith 1,050
Jackson, Tania Gae 735
Klem, Geoffrey Vincent 1,365
Nicholas, John Digby 1,155
Pimm, Rosanne Bromley 1,155

Statutory Planning Committee
Adair, Megan Anne 7,350
Aubrey, Russell Anthony 7,718
Glickman, Raymond Barry 7,718
Hiller, Stephen Maitland 7,350
Holloway, Ian Janson 8,085
Taylor, Elizabeth 9,251
Thornton, Ross Douglas 735

TOTAL 159,417

SITTING FEES

Swan Valley Planning Committee
Gaudet, Joseph Alain 1,800
Gratte, Henry Victor 900
Griffiths, John David 1,500
Henderson, Rodney Keith 1,050
Hunt, Brian Atlee 1,200
Lovreta, Jim Anthony 1,350
Taylor, Elizabeth 1,800
Tomlinson, Derrick Gordon 2,200
Trease, Darryl Raymond 1,570
Vuleta, Keith John 1,200
Zannino, Cosimo 820

TOTAL 15,390
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016

COST OF SERVICES Note 2016 2015
$000 $000

Expenses
Supplies and services 6 36,273 43,231
Depreciation expense 7 3,354 3,247
Bad and doubtful debts 8 26 51
Committee/board fees 9 487 382
Grants and subsidies 10 8,566 11,657
Revaluation decrement 11 44,317 101,324
Compensation payment 12 2,626 1,456
Other expenses 13 35,264 6,120
Total cost of services 130,913 167,468

Income

Revenue
Rental revenue 6,337 6,404
User charges and fees 14 12,818 14,511
Interest revenue 15 6,453 5,735
Other revenue 16 13,303 2,641
Total Revenue 38,911 29,291

Gains
Gain on disposal of non-current assets 17 13,292 16,549
Total Gains 13,292 16,549

Total income other than income from State Government 52,203 45,840

NET COST OF SERVICES 78,710 121,628

Income from State Government 18
State grants and contributions - 100
Service appropriation 107,030 98,550
Services received free of charge 304 436
Total income from State Government 107,334 99,086

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD 28,624 (22,542)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Items not reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Changes in asset revaluation surplus 33 2,420 1,961
Gains/losses recognised directly in equity
Total other comprehensive income 2,420 1,961

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD 31,044 (20,581)

See also Note 46 'Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service'.

The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the
accompanying notes.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 30 JUNE 2016

Note 2016 2015
ASSETS $000 $000
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 19 300,498 271,989
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 20 834 4,419
Receivables 21 4,885 5,498
Inventories 22 2 7
Other current assets 23 47,855 24,961
Non-current assets classified as held for sale 24 7,105 2,766
Total Current Assets 361,179 309,640

Non-Current Assets
Amounts receivable for services 25 4,739 4,359
Property, plant and equipment 26 507,508 532,171
Infrastructure 27 7,332 8,653
Intangible assets 29 23,821 17,940
Total Non-Current Assets 543,400 563,123

TOTAL ASSETS 904,579 872,763

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Payables 31 4,928 16,050
Other current liabilities 32 18,196 15,945
Total Current Liabilities 23,124 31,995

TOTAL LIABILITIES 23,124 31,995

NET ASSETS 881,455 840,768

EQUITY 33
Contributed equity 9,643 -
Reserves 38,306 35,886
Accumulated surplus/(deficit) 833,506 804,882
TOTAL EQUITY 881,455 840,768

The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying
notes.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016

Accumulated
Contributed surplus/ Total

Note Equity Reserves (deficit) equity
$000 $000 $000 $000

Balance at 1 July 2014 33 3,997           33,925         833,798       871,720       

     Surplus/(deficit) -                   -                   (22,542)        (22,542)        
     Other comprehensive income -                   1,961           -                   1,961           
Total comprehensive income for the period -                   1,961           (22,542)        (20,581)        

Transactions with owners in their capacity as
owners:
     Capital appropriations 5,400           -                   -                   5,400           
     Distributions to owners (15,771)        -                   -                   (15,771)        
Total (10,371)        -                   -                   (10,371)        

(6,374)          35,886         811,256       840,768       

Transfer debit balance to Accumulated Surplus 6,374           -                   (6,374)          -                   

Balance at 30 June 2015 -                   35,886         804,882       840,768       

Balance at 1 July 2015 -                   35,886         804,882       840,768       

     Surplus/(deficit) -                   -                   28,624         28,624         
     Other comprehensive income -                   2,420           -                   2,420           
Total comprehensive income for the period -                   2,420           28,624         31,044         

Transactions with owners in their capacity as
owners:
     Capital appropriations 18,290         -                   -                   18,290         
     Distributions to owners (8,647)          -                   -                   (8,647)          
Total 9,643           -                   -                   9,643           

Balance at 30 June 2016 9,643           38,306         833,506       881,455       

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.



Financial statements

8 92015/16  WESTERN AUSTRALIAN PLANNING COMMISSION  Annual Report

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016

Note 2016 2015
$000 $000

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriation 106,650 98,170
Capital contributions 18,290 5,400
Equity repayments - (540)
Net cash provided by State Government 124,940 103,030

Utilised as follows:
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Supplies and services (44,046) (38,790)
Committee/board fees - (226)
Grants and subsidies (7,617) (994)
GST payments on purchases (6,158) (3,689)
GST payment to taxation authority (124) (294)
Other payments (3,631) (1,569)

Receipts
State and other bodies grants and contributions - 100
Rental received 6,270 6,290
User charges and fees 12,894 14,484
Interest received 6,137 5,573
GST receipts on sales 2,854 545
GST receipts from taxation authority 3,839 2,158
Other receipts 5,389 1,328
Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities 34 (24,193) (15,084)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from sale of non-current assets 31,110 16,255
Purchase of non-current assets (106,933) (40,116)
Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities (75,823) (23,861)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 24,924 64,085

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of period 276,408 212,323

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD 34 301,332 276,408

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016

1.

2.

(a) General Statement

Australian Accounting Standards

General

The financial statements of the Western Australian Planning Commission (WAPC) for the year ended 30 June
2016 have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards. The term 'Australian
Accounting Standards' refers to Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standard
Board (AASB).

The WAPC has adopted any applicable new and revised Australian Accounting Standards from their operative 
dates.

Early adoption of standards

The WAPC cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by Treasurer's
Instruction (TI) 1101 Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements . Partial
exemption permitting early adoption of AASB 2015-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Fair
Value Disclosures of Not-for-Profit Public Sector Entities has been granted. Aside from AASB 2015-7, there
has been no early adoption of any other Australian Accounting Standards that have been issued or amended
(but not operative) by the WAPC for the annual reporting period ended 30 June 2016.

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements have been consistently applied
throughout all periods presented unless otherwise stated.

The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand dollars ($'000).

Note 3 'Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies' discloses judgements that have
been made in the process of applying the WAPC's accounting policies resulting in the most significant effect
on amounts recognised in the financial statements.

Summary of significant accounting policies

The WAPC is a not-for-profit reporting entity that prepares general purpose financial statements in
accordance with the Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements of Accounting Concepts
and other authoritative pronouncements of the AASB as applied by the Treasurer’s Instructions. Several of
these are modified by the  Treasurer’s Instructions to vary application, disclosure, format and wording.

The Financial Management Act and the Treasurer’s Instructions impose legislative provisions that govern the
preparation of financial statements and take precedence over Australian Accounting Standards, the
Framework, Statements of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the AASB.

Where modification is required and has had a material or significant financial effect upon the reported results,
details of that modification and the resulting financial effect are disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements.

(b) Basis of Preparation

The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting using the historical cost
convention, except for land, buildings and infrastructure which have been measured at fair value.
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Revenue recognition

Sale of land and other assets

Provision of services

Subdivision and strata title application fees

Rental

Interest

Service Appropriations

Note 4 'Key sources of estimation uncertainty' discloses key assumptions made concerning the future, and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

(c) Reporting Entity

The reporting entity comprises the Western Australian Planning Commission.

Revenue is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction.

Revenue is recognised on receipt of application fees and the services are contracted to Department of
Planning for determination.

Revenue is recognised on a straight line basis in accordance to leasing terms.  Refer also Note 2(o) 'Rent'.

Revenue is recognised as the interest accrues.

Service Appropriations are recognised as revenues at fair value in the period in which the WAPC gains
control of the appropriated funds. The WAPC gains control of appropriated funds at the time those funds are
deposited to the bank account or credited to the 'Amounts receivable for services' (holding account) held at
Treasury.

(d) Contributed Equity

AASB Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities requires
transfers in the nature of equity contributions, other than as a result of a restructure of administrative
arrangements, to be designated by the Government (the owner) as contributions by owners (at the time of, or
prior to transfer) before such transfers can be recognised as equity contributions. Capital appropriations have
been designated as contributions by owners by TI 955 Contributions by Owners made to Wholly Owned
Public Sector Entities  and have been credited directly to Contributed Equity.

The transfers of net assets to/from other agencies, other than as a result of a restructure of administrative
arrangements, are designated as contributions by owners where the transfers are non-discretionary and non-
reciprocal.

(e) Income

Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable. Revenue is recognised for the
major business activities as follows:

Revenue is recognised from the sale of land and disposal of other assets when the significant risks and
rewards of ownership transfer to the purchaser and proceeds can be measured reliably.
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Grants, donations, gifts and other non-reciprocal contributions

Revenue is recognised at fair value when the WAPC obtains control over the assets comprising the
contributions, usually when cash is received.

Items of property, plant and equipment and infrastructure costing $5,000 or more are recognised as assets
and the cost of utilising assets is expensed (depreciated) over their useful lives. Items of property, plant and
equipment and infrastructure costing less than $5,000 are immediately expensed direct to the Statement of
Comprehensive Income (other than where they form part of a group of similar items which are significant in
total).

Initial recognition and measurement

Property, plant and equipment and infrastructure are initially recognised at cost. 

For items of property, plant and equipment and infrastructure acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the cost
is their fair value at the date of acquisition.

Subsequent measurement

Subsequent to initial recognition as an asset, the revaluation model is used for the measurement of land,
buildings and infrastructure and historical cost for all other property, plant and equipment. Land, buildings and
infrastructure are carried at fair value less accumulated depreciation (buildings and infrastructure only) and
accumulated impairment losses. All other items of property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost
less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Other non-reciprocal contributions that are not contributions by owners are recognised at their fair value.
Contributions of services are only recognised when a fair value can be reliably determined and the services
would be purchased if not donated.

Where contributions recognised as revenues during the reporting period were obtained on the condition that
they be expended in a particular manner or used over a particular period, and those conditions were
undischarged as at the end of the reporting period, the nature of, and amounts pertaining to, those
undischarged conditions are disclosed in the notes.

Gains

Realised and unrealised gains are usually recognised on a net basis. These include gains arising on the
disposal of non-current assets and some revaluations of non-current assets.

(f) Property, Plant and Equipment and Infrastructure

Capitalisation/expensing of assets

Where market-based evidence is available, the fair value of land and buildings is determined on the basis of
current market buying values determined by reference to recent market transactions. When buildings are
revalued by reference to recent market transactions, the accumulated depreciation is eliminated against the
gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount restated to the revalued amount.

In the absence of the market-based evidence, fair value of land and buildings is determined on the basis of
existing use. This normally applies where buildings are specialised or where land use is restricted. Fair value
for existing use buildings is determined by reference to the cost of replacing the remaining future economic
benefits embodied in the asset, i.e. the depreciated replacement cost. Where the fair value of buildings is
determined on using the depreciated replacement cost basis, the accumulated depreciation is eliminated
against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount restated to the revalued amount. Fair
value for restricted use land is determined by comparison with market evidence for land with similar
approximate utility (high restricted use land) or market value of comparable unrestricted land (low restricted
use land).
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Asset  revaluation surplus

Buildings 10 - 40 years
Infrastructure 10 - 40 years
Computer equipment 2.5 years
Other equipment 5 - 20 years
Motor vehicles 5 - 10 years

Refer to Note 26 'Property, Plant and Equipment' and Note 27 'Infrastructure' for further information on
revaluations.

Derecognition

Upon disposal or derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment and infrastructure, any revaluation
surplus relating to that asset is retained in the asset revaluation surplus.

The asset revaluation surplus is used to record increments and decrements on the revaluation of non-current
assets as described in Note 26 'Property, Plant and Equipment' and Note 27 'Infrastructure'.

Depreciation

All non-current assets having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated over their estimated useful
lives in a manner that reflects the consumption of their future economic benefits.

Land and buildings are independently valued annually by the Western Australian Land Information Authority
(Valuation Services) and recognised annually to ensure that the carrying amount does not differ materially
from the asset's fair value at the end of the reporting period.

Fair value of the regional open space buildings and infrastructure has been determined by reference to the
depreciated replacement cost (existing use basis) as the assets are specialised and no market-based
evidence of value is available.  Independent valuations are obtained every 3 years.

When regional open space buildings and infrastructure are revalued, the accumulated depreciation is
eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount restated to the revalued
amount.

The most significant assumptions and judgements in estimating fair value are made in assessing whether to
apply the existing use basis to assets and in determining estimated economic life. Professional judgement by
the valuer is required where the evidence does not provide a clear distinction between market type assets and
existing use assets.

Land is not depreciated. Depreciation on other assets is calculated using the straight line method, using rates
which are reviewed annually.  Estimated useful lives for each class of depreciable asset are:

(g) Intangible Assets 

Capitalisation/expensing of assets

Acquisitions of intangible assets costing $5,000 or more and internally generated intangible assets costing
$50,000 or more are capitalised. The cost of utilising the assets is expensed (amortised) over their useful
lives. Cost incurred below these thresholds are immediately expensed directly to the Statement of
Comprehensive Income.

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. For assets acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the cost
is their fair value at the date of acquisition.

The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement requiring the asset to be carried at cost less any
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.
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Property, plant and equipment and infrastructure are tested for any indication of impairment at the end of each
reporting period. Where there is an indication of impairment, the recoverable amount is estimated. Where
the recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down
to the recoverable amount and an impairment loss is recognised. Where an asset measured at cost is written
down to recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss. Where a previously revalued
asset is written down to recoverable amount, the loss is recognised as a revaluation decrement in other
comprehensive income. As the WAPC is a not-for-profit entity, unless a specialised asset has been identified
as a surplus asset, the recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and
depreciated replacement cost. 

The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an asset’s depreciation is materially
understated, or where the replacement cost is falling or where there is a significant change in useful life.
Each relevant class of assets is reviewed annually to verify that the accumulated depreciation/amortisation
reflects the level of consumption or expiration of the asset's future economic benefits and to evaluate any
impairment risk from falling replacement costs.

The recoverable amount of assets identified as surplus assets is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and
the present value of future cash flows expected to be derived from the asset. Surplus assets carried at fair
value have no risk of material impairment where fair value is determined by reference to market-based
evidence. Where fair value is determined by reference to depreciated replacement cost, surplus assets are at
risk of impairment and the recoverable amount is measured. Surplus assets at cost are tested for indications
of impairment at the end of each reporting period.

Refer to Note 30 'Impairment of Assets' for the outcome of impairment reviews and testing.

(i) Non-current Assets (or Disposal Groups) Classified as Held for Sale

Non-current assets (or disposal groups) held for sale are recognised at the lower of carrying amount and fair
value less costs to sell and are presented separately from other assets in the Statement of Financial Position.
Assets classified as held for sale are not depreciated or amortised.

(h) Impairment of Assets

Caveat Interest

When a property is reserved for possible future acquisition, the owner may apply under certain circumstances
through the provisions of Part 11 of the Planning and Development Act 2005, to sell the property at a lesser
price than might reasonably be expected had there been no reservation. If approved, compensation
representing the difference is paid to the vendor.

At the time of a compensation payment, the WAPC's equity in the property is established on the ratio of
compensation paid, as a proportion of the unaffected value of the property. If the WAPC resumes the
property at a later date, the purchase consideration is calculated by deducting the WAPC's equity as a
percentage of the total valuation at the time of acquisition.

Caveat interest in excess of $1 are reported as intangible assets. They are recognised at cost, considered to
have an indefinite useful life, are not amortised but are instead assessed annually for impairment.

(j) Leases

Finance lease rights and obligations are initially recognised, at the commencement of the lease term, as
assets and liabilities equal in amount to the fair value of the leased item or, if lower, the present value of the
minimum lease payments, determined at the inception of the lease. The assets are disclosed as plant,
equipment and vehicles under lease, and are depreciated over the period during which the WAPC is expected
to benefit from their use. Minimum lease payments are apportioned between the finance charge and the
reduction of the outstanding lease liability, according to the interest rate implicit in the lease.

The WAPC has entered into a number of leases to rent land and buildings where the WAPC, as lessor,
retains all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. Accordingly, these leases have been classified as
operating leases. Lease revenue is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income on a straight line
basis over the lease term.
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• Loans and receivables; and
• Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.

• Cash and cash equivalents
• Restricted cash and cash equivalents
• Receivables
• Amounts receivable for services

• Payables
• Finance lease liabilities
• Borrowings

Financial Assets

Financial Liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement of financial instruments is at fair value which normally equates to the
transaction cost or the face value. Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.

The fair value of short-term receivables and payables is the transaction cost or the face value because there
is no interest rate applicable and subsequent measurement is not required as the effect of discounting is not
material.

(l) Cash and Cash Equivalents

For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalent (and restricted cash and cash
equivalent) assets comprise cash on hand and short-term deposits with original maturities of three months or
less that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and which are subject to insignificant risk of
changes in value.

(k) Financial Instruments

In addition to cash, the WAPC has two categories of financial instrument:

Financial instruments have been disaggregated into the following classes:

Regular rental valuations are commissioned to ensure a competitive rental is obtained for each leased
property. Rental revenue receivables are recognised at the amounts receivable, as they are due for
settlement no more than 30 days from the date of recognition.

(m) Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs are assigned by the method
most appropriate to each particular class of inventory, with the majority being valued on a first-in first-out
basis.  See Note 22 'Inventories'.

(n) Amounts Receivable for Services (Holding Account)

The WAPC receives income from the State Government partly in cash and partly as an asset (holding account
receivable). The holding account receivable balance, resulting from service appropriation funding, is
accessible on the emergence of the cash funding requirement to cover asset replacement.

(o) Rent

Rental revenue is received on properties leased by the WAPC prior to the properties being used for their
acquired purpose under the Metropolitan Region Scheme, the Peel Region Scheme and the Greater Bunbury
Region Scheme. 
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(i) Provisions - Employee Benefits

(p) Receivables

Receivables are recognised and carried at original invoice amount less an allowance for any uncollectible
amounts (i.e. impairment). The collectability of receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis and any
receivables identified as uncollectible are written off against the allowance account. The allowance for
uncollectible amounts (doubtful debts) is raised when there is objective evidence that the WAPC will not be
able to collect the debts. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value as it is due for settlement within 30
days.

(q) Payables

Payables are recognised when the WAPC becomes obliged to make future payments as a result of a
purchase of assets or services. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value, as they are generally settled
within 30 days.

(r) Provisions

All annual leave and unconditional long service leave provisions are classified as current liabilities as the
WAPC does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after
the end of the reporting period.

Superannuation

The Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB) and other fund providers administers public
sector superannuation arrangements in Western Australia in accordance with legislative requirements.
Eligibility criteria for membership in particular schemes for public sector employees vary according to
commencement and implementation dates.

Eligible employees contribute to the Pension Scheme, a defined benefit pension scheme closed to new
members since 1987, or the Gold State Superannuation Scheme (GSS), a defined benefit lump sum
scheme closed to new members since 1995.

Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing and amount and are recognised where there is a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of a past event and when the outflow of resources embodying economic
benefits is probable and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period.

Annual leave and long service leave

Annual and long service leave that is expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the
reporting period is considered to be a 'short-term employee benefits'. The annual and long service leave
liability is recognised and measured at the undiscounted amounts expected to be paid when the liability is
settled.

Annual and long service leave that is not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of
the reporting period is considered to be 'other long-term employee benefits'. The annual and long service
leave liability is recognised and measured at the present value of amounts expected to be paid when the
liabilities are settled using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement.

When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected future wage and salary
levels including non-salary components such as employer superannuation contributions, as well as the
experience of employee departures and periods of service.

The expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the end of the reporting period on
national government bonds with terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future
cash outflows.
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(ii) Provisions - Other

Employment on-costs

Employees commencing employment prior to 16 April 2007 who were not members of either the Pension
Scheme or the GSS became non-contributory members of the West State Superannuation Scheme
(WSS). Employees commencing employment on or after 16 April 2007 became members of the GESB
Super Scheme (GESBS). From 30 March 2012, existing members of the WSS or GESBS and new
employees became able to choose their preferred superannuation fund. The WAPC makes concurrent
contributions to GESB and other funds on behalf of employees in compliance with the Commonwealth 
Government's Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) Act 1992 . Contributions to these
accumulation schemes extinguish the WAPC's liability for superannuation charges in respect of
employees who are not members of the Pension Scheme and GSS.

The GSS is a defined benefit scheme for the purposes of employees and whole-of-government reporting.
However, it is a defined contribution plan for agency purposes because the concurrent contributions
(defined contributions) made by the WAPC to GESB extinguishes the agency's obligations to the related
superannuation liability.

(t) Assets and Services Received Free of Charge or for Nominal Cost

Assets or services received free of charge or for nominal cost, that the WAPC would otherwise purchase if not
donated, are recognised as income at the fair value of the assets or services where they can be reliably
measured. A corresponding expense is recognised for services received. Receipts of assets are recognised
in the Statement of Financial Position.

Assets or services received from other State Government agencies are separately disclosed under Income
from State Government in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

(u) Comparative Figures

Comparative figures are, where appropriate, reclassified to be comparable with the figures presented in the
current financial year.

The WAPC has no liabilities under the Pension Scheme or the GSS. The liabilities for the unfunded
Pension Scheme and the unfunded GSS transfer benefits attributable to members who transferred from
the Pension Scheme, are assumed by the Treasurer. All other GSS obligations are funded by concurrent
contributions made by the WAPC to the GESB.

The GESB makes all benefit payments in respect of the Pension Scheme and the GSS, and is recouped
from the Treasurer for the employer’s share. 

See also Note 2(s) 'Superannuation expense'.

Employment on-costs, including workers’ compensation insurance, are not employee benefits and are
recognised separately as liabilities and expenses when the employment to which they relate has
occurred. Employment on-costs are included as part of 'Other expenses' and are not included as part of
the WAPC’s 'Employee benefits expense'. The related liability is included in 'Employment on-costs
provision'.

(s) Superannuation Expense

The superannuation expense in the Statement of Comprehensive Income comprises of employer contributions
paid to the GSS (concurrent contributions), the WSS, the GESBS, and other superannuation fund.
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3.

4.

Estimating economic service potential of rental buildings

5.

AASB 2014-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2014) -
Application of AASB 9 (December 2009) and AASB 9 (December 2010) [AASB (2009 &2010)]

The WAPC cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by TI 1101
Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements or by an exemption from TI 1101.
By virtue of a limited exemption, the WAPC has early adopted AASB 2015-7 Amendments to Australian
Accounting Standards - Fair Value Disclosures of Not-for-Profit Public Sector Entities . Where applicable, the
WAPC plans to apply the following Australian Accounting Standards from their application date.

Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative

This Standard makes amendments to AASB 9 Financial Instruments (December 2009) and AASB 9 Financial 
Instruments (December 2010), arising from the issuance of AASB 9 Financial Instruments in December 2014.
The WAPC has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of AASB 9.

AASB 2015-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Withdrawal of AASB 1031
Materiality

This Standard completes the withdrawal of references to AASB 1031 in all Australian Accounting Standards
and Interpretations, allowing that Standard to effectively be withdrawn.  There is no financial impact.

Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements about the application of
accounting policies that have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements. The
WAPC evaluates these judgements regularly.

Operating lease commitments

The WAPC has entered into a number of leases to rent land and buildings where the WAPC, as lessor,
retains all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. Accordingly, these leases have been classified as
operating leases.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Key estimates and assumptions concerning the future are based on historical experience and various other
factors that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

The WAPC has depreciated its rental buildings based on the estimated economic service potential of each
building to the WAPC. The service potential of the buildings cannot always be reliably estimated due to timing
of land disposals not always being under the control of the WAPC. For example, changes to the Metropolitan
Region Scheme and the capital works programs of other agencies and local governments.

Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates

Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard

The WAPC has applied the following Australian Accounting Standards effective for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 July 2015 that impacted on the WAPC.

AASB 2013-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Conceptual Framework, Materiality and
Financial Instruments.

Part C of this Standard defers the application of AASB 9 to 1 January 2017. The application date of AASB 9
was subsequently deferred to 1 January 2018 by AASB 2014-1. The WAPC has not yet determined the
application or potential impact of AASB 9.
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Operative for
reporting
periods

beginning
on/after

1 Jan 2018

1 Jan 2018

1 Jan 2019

1 Jan 2016

1 Jan 2018

1 Jan 2018

1 Jan 2016

AASB 9 Financial Instruments

This Standard establishes the principles that the WAPC shall apply to report useful
information to users of financial statements about the nature, amount, timing and
uncertainty of revenue and cashflows arising from a contract with a customer. The WAPC
has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

The mandatory application date of this Standard is currently 1 January 2018 after being
amended by AASB 2012-6 , AASB 2013-9 and AASB 2014-1 Amendments to Australian
Accounting Standards . The WAPC has not yet determined the application or the potential
impact of the Standard.

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

Part E of this Standard makes amendments to AASB 9 and consequential amendments to
other Standards. It has not yet been assessed by the WAPC to determine the application
or potential impact of the Standard.

AASB 16 Leases

This Standard introduces a single lessee accounting model and requires a lessee to
recognise assets and liabilities for all leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless the
underlying asset is of low value. The WAPC has not yet determined the application or the
potential impact of the Standard.

AASB 1057 Application of Australian Accounting Standards

This Standard lists the application paragraphs for each other Standard (and Interpretation),
grouped where they are the same. There is not financial impact.

AASB 2014-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Accounting for
Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations [AASB 1 & 11]

The WAPC establishes Joint Operations in pursuit of its objectives and does not routinely
acquire interest in Joint Operations. Therefore, there is no financial impact on application
of the Standard.

AASB 2014-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards

This Standard supersedes AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement , introducing a number of changes to accounting treatments.

AASB 2010-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9
(December 2010) [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 120, 121, 127, 128, 131,
132, 136, 137, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Int  2, 5, 10, 12, 19 & 127]

This Standard makes consequential amendments to other Australian Accounting Standards
and Interpretations as a result of issuing AASB 9  in December 2010.

The mandatory application date of this Standard has been amended by AASB 2012-6 and
AASB 2014-1 to 1 January 2018. The WAPC has not yet determined the application or the
potential impact of the Standard.
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Operative for
reporting
periods

beginning
on/after

1 Jan 2016

1 Jan 2018

1 Jan 2018

1 Jan 2016

1 Jan 2016

1 Jan 2016AASB 2015-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Annual Improvements to
Australian Accounting Standards 2012-2014 Cycle [AASB 1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 11, 110, 119, 121,
133, 134, 137 & 140]

AASB 2014-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 15

This Standard gives effect to the consequential amendments to Australian Accounting
Standards (including Interpretations) arising from the issuance of AASB 15 . The
mandatory application date of this Standard has been amended by AASB 2015-8 to 1
January 2018. The WAPC has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of
the Standard.

AASB 2014-4 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Clarification of
Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation [AASB 116 & 138]

The adoption of this Standard has no financial impact for the WAPC as depreciation and
amortisation is not determined by reference to revenue generation, but by reference to
consumption of future economic benefits.

AASB 2014-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9
(December 2014)

This Standard gives effect to the consequential amendments to Australian Accounting
Standards (including Interpretations) arising from the issuance of AASB 9 (December
2014) . The WAPC has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the
Standard.

AASB 2014-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Equity Method in
Separate Financial Statements [AASB 1, 127 & 128]

This Standard amends AASB 127, and consequentially amends AASB 1 and AASB 128 , 
to allow entities to use the equity method of accounting for investment in subsidiaries, joint
ventures and associates in their separate financial systems. The WAPC has not yet
determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

AASB 2014-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Sale or Contribution of
Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture [AASB 10 & 128]

This Standard amends AASB 10 and AASB 128 to address an inconsistency between the
requirements in AASB 10 and those in AASB 128 (August 2011) , in dealing with the sale or
contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture. The WAPC
has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

These amendments arise from the issuance of International Financial Reporting Standard
Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2012-2014 Cycle in September 2014, and editorial
corrections. The WAPC has determined that the application of the Standard has no
financial impact.
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Operative for
reporting
periods

beginning
on/after

1 Jan 2016

1 Jul 2016

1 Jan 2017

1 Jan 2016

1 Jan 2017

1 Jan 2018

This Standard defers the mandatory effective (application date) of amendments to AASB 10
& 128 that were originally made in AASB 2014-10 so that the amendments are required to
be applied for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 instead of 1
January 2016. The WAPC has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of
AASB 2014-10.

AASB 2016-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Disclosure Initiative:
Amendments to AASB 107

This Standard amends AASB 107 Statement of Cash Flows (August 2015) to require
disclosures that enable users of financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both changes arising from cash flows and non-
cash changes.  There is no financial impact.

AASB 2016-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Clarifications to AASB 15

This Standard clarifies identifying performance obligations, principal versus agent
considerations, timing of recognising revenue from granting a licence, and, provides further
transitional provisions to AASB 15. The WAPC has not yet determined the application or
the potential impact.

AASB 2015-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Extending Related Party
Disclosures to Not-for-Profit Public Sector Entities [AASB 10, 124 & 1049]

The amendments extend the scope of AASB 124 to include application by not-for-profit
public sector entities. Implementation guidance is included to assist application of the
Standard by not-for-profit public sector entities.  There is no financial impact.

AASB 2015-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Disclosure Initiative:
Amendments to AASB 101 [AASB 7, 101, 134 & 1049]

This Standard amends AASB 101 to provide clarification regarding the disclosure
requirements in AASB 101. Specifically, the Standard proposes narrow-focus amendments
to address some of the concerns expressed about existing presentation and disclosure
requirements and to ensure entities are able to use judgement when applying a Standard in
determining what information to disclose in their financial statements. There is no financial
impact.

AASB 2015-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Effective Date of AASB
15

This Standard amends the mandatory effective date (application date) of AASB 15 Revenue 
from Contracts with Customer so that AASB 15 is required to be applied for annual
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 instead of 1 January 2017. The
WAPC has not yet determined the application of the potential impact of AASB 15.

AASB 2015-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Effective Date of
Amendments to AASB 10 & 128
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Operative for
reporting
periods

beginning
on/after

1 Jan 2017AASB 2016-4 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Recoverable Amount of
Non-Cash-Generating Specialised Assets of Not-for-Profit Entities

This Standard clarifies that the recoverable amount of primarily non-cash-generating assets
of not-for-profit entities, which are typically specialised in nature and held for continuing use
of their service capacity, is expected to be materially the same as fair value determined
under AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement . The WAPC has not yet determined the
application or the potential impact.
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2016 2015
$000 $000

6. Supplies and Services

Consultants and contractors 6,118 6,211
Services provided by Department of Planning - labour 8,260 8,204
Services provided by Department of Planning - other 15,972 17,209
Repairs and maintenance 4,409 3,607
Cleaning / gardening 150 168
Lease / rental / hire charges 241 229
Advertising and promotion 306 202
Printing 72 92
Utilities 246 221
Communication 81 73
Consumables 316 400
Unallocated service delivery agreement expenses - 6,539
Other 102 76

36,273 43,231

7. Depreciation

Regional open space buildings 431 463
Rental buildings 2,238 2,251
Infrastructure 241 257
Equipment 404 241
Vehicles 40 35

3,354 3,247

8. Bad and Doubtful Debt Expense

Doubtful debts expense 26 51
26 51

9. Committee / Board Fees

Travel 90 42
Sitting fees 362 309
Superannuation 31 29
Other 4 2

487 382

10. Grants and Subsidies

General government agencies 7,641 10,794
Non government agencies 641 348
Local government 274 515
Other 10 -

8,566 11,657

11. Revaluation Decrement

Land 44,317 101,324
44,317 101,324

12. Compensation Payment

2,626 1,456
2,626 1,456

Interest compensation and contribution of legal costs on acquisition of
property



Financial statements

242015/16  WESTERN AUSTRALIAN PLANNING COMMISSION  Annual Report

2016 2015
$000 $000

13. Other Expenses

Licence / maintenance fees 69 129
Minor equipment purchases 83 46
Other staff costs 107 80
Rates and taxes 896 755
Insurance 295 273
Impairment losses for land 33,406 4,187
Other 407 649

35,264 6,120

14. User Charges and Fees

Easements 5 -
Subdivision and strata title application fees 10,082 11,493
Endorsement fees 41 37
Plan and diagram fees 1,805 1,926
Land reservation certificates 858 1,023
Development application fees 27 32

12,818 14,511

15. Interest Revenue

Interest earned on Commonwealth Bank account 6,453 5,735
6,453 5,735

16. Other Revenue

Sale of goods - 1
Whiteman Park revenue(a) 958 866
Recoup of expenditure 4,365 312
Land acquired for nil cost and capitalised at fair value 1,386 1,441
Unallocated service delivery agreement revenue 6,539 -
Other 55 21

13,303 2,641

(a)

17. Net Gain/(Loss) on Disposal of Non-Current Assets

Proceeds from disposal of non-current assets
Land 34,287 25,596
Rental Buildings 50 675
Other Assets 27 -

Selling costs of disposal of non-current assets
Land (37) (59)
Rental Buildings - (9)

Carrying amount of disposal of non-current assets
Land (20,422) (6,938)
Rental Buildings (587) (2,670)
Other Assets (26) (46)

Net gain/(loss) 13,292 16,549

Excludes rental revenue on leases held at Whiteman Park which is included within rental revenue on
Statement of Comprehensive Income.
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2016 2015
$000 $000

18. Income from State Government

State grants and contributions
- General government agencies - 100

- 100

Service appropriation received during the financial period(a):
- Metropolitan Region Improvement Tax 97,897 92,769
- Other 9,133 5,781

107,030 98,550

Determined on the basis of the following estimates provided by agencies:
State Solicitor's Office 297 430
Department of Water 7 6

304 436

107,334 99,086

(a)

(b)

19. Cash and Cash Equivalents

Current
Cash held at the Commonwealth Bank:
- Metropolitan Region Improvement Fund 292,777 261,891
- Western Australian Planning Commission Account 7,719 10,095
Cash advance 2 2

300,498 271,989

20. Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents

Current
- Metropolitan Region Improvement Fund(a) 275 294
- Western Australian Planning Commission Account(b) 559 4,126

834 4,419

(a)

(b)

21. Receivables

Current 
Receivables 1,381 462
Allowance for impairment of receivables (142) (116)
GST receivable 1,718 2,151
Accrued interest 1,827 1,510
Other accrued income 101 1,491

4,885 5,498

Services received free of charge from other state government agencies
during the financial period:(b)

Service appropriations fund the net cost of services delivered. Appropriation revenue comprises a cash
component and a receivable (asset). The receivable (holding account) comprises the budgeted
depreciation expense for the year and any agreed increase in leave liabilities during the financial year.

Assets or services received free of charge or for nominal cost are recognised as revenue at the fair value of
the assets and/or the fair value of those services that can be reliably measured and which would have been
purchased if they were not donated. Contributions of assets or services in the nature of contributions by
owners are recognised direct to equity.

Cash held in the MRIF is to be used for various projects and studies.

Cash held in the WAPC Account is to be used for Regional Land Acquisitions, Coastal Zone Management
and various other studies.
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2016 2015
$000 $000

Reconciliation of changes in the allowance for impairment of receivables:
Balance at start of period 116 65
Doubtful debts expense 26 51
Balance at end of period 142 116

22. Inventories

Current
Inventories held for resale:
-  Publications at cost 2 7

2 7

23. Other Assets

Current
Settlement payments 47,599 24,685
Tenant security bonds 256 276

47,855 24,961

24. Non-current assets classified as held for sale

Opening balance
Land 2,766 -

Assets reclassified as held for sale
Land 4,339 2,766

Total assets classified as held for sale
Land 7,105 2,766

Less assets sold
Land - -

Closing balance
Land 7,105 2,766

7,105
25. Amounts Receivable for Services

Non-current 4,739 4,359
4,739 4,359

Represents the non-cash component of service appropriations. See Note 2(n) 'Amounts Receivable For
Services (Holding Account)'.  It is restricted in that it can only be used for asset replacement.
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2016 2015
$000 $000

26. Property, Plant and Equipment

Land

Metropolitan Region Scheme Purchases(a)

Other regional roads - at fair value 10,421 10,924
Primary regional roads - at fair value 30,692 33,088
Parks and recreation areas - at fair value 313,997 322,436
Other land purchases - at fair value 19,511 18,007
Land surplus to requirements - at fair value 78,325 95,085

452,946 479,541
452,946

Peel and Greater Bunbury Region Scheme Purchases(a)

Other regional roads - at fair value 45 51
Primary regional roads - at fair value 7,616 7,357
Parks and recreation areas - at fair value 12,265 13,226
Other land purchases - at fair value 1,976 1,614
Land surplus to requirements - at fair value 227 -

22,129 22,248
22,129

Total Land 475,075 501,789
475,075

Buildings

Rental buildings
At fair value(a) 14,197 14,811
Accumulated depreciation - -

14,197 14,811

Regional open space buildings
At fair value(b) 15,119 15,542
Accumulated depreciation - (850)

15,119 14,692

Total Buildings 29,316 29,503

Plant, Equipment and Vehicles

Computer Equipment
At cost 160 211
Accumulated depreciation (160) (211)

- -

Other Equipment
At cost 4,983 2,618
Accumulated depreciation (2,191) (1,857)

2,792 761

Vehicles
At cost 549 335
Accumulated depreciation (224) (217)

325 118

Total Plant, Equipment and Vehicles 3,117 879

Total Property, Plant and Equipment 507,508 532,171

This represents the total fair value of properties owned by the WAPC. Properties are either negotiated
purchases or are compulsorily acquired under the provisions of the Planning and Development Act 2005 or the
Land Administration Act 1997.
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2016 2015
$000 $000

507,508
(a)

(b)

Information on fair value measurements is provided in Note 28.

Land and rental buildings were revalued as at 1 July 2015 by the Western Australian Land Information
Authority (Valuation Services). The valuations were performed during the year ended 30 June 2016 and
recognised at 30 June 2016. In undertaking the revaluation, fair value was determined by reference to
market value for land: $82,337,000 (2015: $109,084,000) and rental buildings: $744,000 (2015:
$1,051,000). For the remaining balance, fair value of rental buildings was determined on the basis of
depreciated replacement cost and fair value of land was determined on the basis of comparison with
market evidence for land with low level utility (high restricted use land).

Regional open space buildings were independently revalued by Independent Valuers of Western Australia
as at 21 June 2016. The valuations were recognised at 30 June 2016. Fair value was determined on the
basis of depreciated replacement cost where buildings are held for existing and continued use.
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tReconciliations - (part of Note 26)

Rental Regional Open
Land Buildings Space Buildings Equipment Motor Vehicles Total

2016 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Carrying amount at start of year 501,789 14,811 14,692 761 118 532,171
Additions 84,417 990 12 36 247 85,702
Revaluation increments - 1,221 846 - - 2,067
Revaluation decrements (44,317) - - - - (44,317)
Classified as held for sale (4,339) - - - - (4,339)
Disposals (20,422) (218) - (14) - (20,654)
Transfers (8,647) - - - - (8,647)
Transferred to / from works in progress - - - 2,413 - 2,413
Impairment losses(a) (33,406) - - - - (33,406)
Other - Demolished - (369) - - - (369)
Depreciation - (2,238) (431) (404) (40) (3,113)
Carrying amount at end of year 475,075 14,197 15,119 2,792 325 507,508

 Rental  Regional Open 
 Land  Buildings  Space Buildings Equipment  Motor Vehicles Total

2015 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Carrying amount at start of year 604,414 15,353 16,723 843 153 637,486
Additions 27,807 840 11 159 - 28,817
Revaluation increments - 1,961 - - - 1,961
Revaluation decrements (101,324) - - - - (101,324)
Classified as held for sale (2,766) - - - - (2,766)
Disposals (6,928) (528) - - - (7,456)
Transfers (15,227) - - - - (15,227)
Transferred to / from works in progress - - - - - -
Impairment losses(a) (4,187) - - - - (4,187)
Other - Demolished - (564) (1,579) - - (2,143)
Depreciation - (2,251) (463) (241) (35) (2,990)
Carrying amount at end of year 501,789 14,811 14,692 761 118 532,171

Information on fair value measurements is provided in Note 28.

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of land and equity in land, buildings, equipment and motor vehicles at the beginning and end of the reporting
period are set out in the table below.

(a) Recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. Where an asset measured at cost is written down to recoverable amount, an impairment
loss is recognised in profit or loss. Where a previously revalued asset is written down to recoverable amount, the loss is recognised as a revaluation
decrement in other comprehensive income
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2016 2015
$000 $000

27. Infrastructure

At fair value(a) 6,952 6,660
Accumulated depreciation - (500)

6,952 6,160

Work in Progress
Construction costs 380 2,493

Total infrastructure 7,332 8,653

Infrastructure reconciliation
Carrying amount at start of period 6,160 6,330
Additions 353 271
Revaluation increments 353 -
Transferred to / from works in progress 338 -
Impairment losses(b) - (138)
Other - Demolished (11) (46)
Depreciation (241) (257)
Carrying amount at end of period 6,952 6,160

Work in Progress reconciliation
Carrying amount at start of period 2,493 968
Additions 655 1,543
Transferred to / from works in progress (2,752) -
Expensed (16) (18)
Carrying amount at end of period 380 2,493

(a)

(b)

Information on fair value measurements is provided in Note 28.

Infrastructure assets were independently revalued by Independent Valuers of Western Australia as at 21
June 2016. The valuations were recognised at 30 June 2016. Fair value was determined on the basis of
depreciated replacement cost where infrastructure assets are held for existing and continued use.

Recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. Where an asset measured at cost is written
down to recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss. Where a previously
revalued asset is written down to recoverable amount, the loss is recognised as a revaluation decrement in
other comprehensive income
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28. Fair Value Measurements

Assets measured at fair value Fair value at
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 end of period

2016 $000 $000 $000 $000
Land (Note 26) - 82,337 392,738 475,075
Regional open space buildings (Note 26) - - 15,119 15,119
Rental buildings (Note 26) - 744 13,453 14,197
Infrastructure (Note 27) - - 6,952 6,952

- 83,081 428,262 511,343

Assets measured at fair value Fair value at
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 end of period

2015 $000 $000 $000 $000
Land (Note 26) - 109,084 392,705 501,789
Regional open space buildings (Note 26) - - 14,692 14,692
Rental buildings (Note 26) - 1,051 13,760 14,811
Infrastructure (Note 27) - - 6,160 6,160

- 110,136 427,316 537,452

Valuation techniques to derive Level 2 fair values

Fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3)

2016 Land Regional Open Rental Infrastructure
Space Buildings Buildings

$000 $000 $000 $000
Fair Value at start of period 392,705 14,692 13,760 6,160
Additions 46,410 12 890 692

(47,208) - - -

- 846 1,138 353

Transfers (from/(to) Level 2) 10,686 - 415 -
(29) - - -

Disposals (1,332) - (218) -
Transfers (8,494) - - -
Others - demolished - - (346) (11)
Depreciation Expense - (431) (2,187) (241)
Fair Value at end of period 392,738 15,119 13,453 6,952

- - - -

Transfers from/(to) non-current assets
classified as held for sale

The regional open space buildings and infrastructure assets are revalued every 3 years. The revaluation was
performed on 21 June 2016.

Level 2 fair values of Land and Buildings are derived using the market approach. Market evidence of sales
prices of comparable land and buildings in close proximity is used to determine price per square metre.

Revaluation increments/(decrements) 
recognised in Profit & Loss
Revaluation increments/(decrements) 
recognised in Other Comprehensive 
Income

Total gains or losses for the period
included in profit or loss, under 'Other
Gains'
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2015 Land Regional Open Rental Infrastructure
Space Buildings Buildings

$000 $000 $000 $000
Fair Value at start of period 397,304 16,723 10,765 6,330
Additions 23,156 11 385 271

(112,083) - - -

- - 1,967 -

Transfers (from/(to) Level 2) 103,581 - 3,393 -
(2,224) - - -

Disposals (1,802) - - (138)
Transfers (15,227) - - -
Others - demolished - (1,579) (563) (46)
Depreciation Expense - (463) (2,187) (257)
Fair Value at end of period 392,705 14,692 13,760 6,160

- - - -

Valuation processes

There were no changes in valuation techniques during the period.

Basis of Valuation

Fair value for restricted use land is based on comparison with market evidence for land with low level utility (high
restricted use land). The relevant comparators of land with low level utility is selected by the Western Australian
Land Information Authority (Valuation Services) and represents the application of a significant Level 3 input in
this valuation methodology. The fair value measurement is sensitive to values of comparator land, with higher
values of comparator land correlating with higher estimated fair values of land.

Transfers from/(to) non-current assets
classified as held for sale

In the absence of market-based evidence, due to the specialised nature of some non financial assets, these
assets are valued at Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy on an existing use basis. The existing use basis
recognises that restrictions or limitations have been placed on their use and disposal when they are not
determined to be surplus to requirements. These restrictions are imposed by virtue of the assets being held to
deliver a specific community service.

Revaluation increments/(decrements) 
recognised in Profit & Loss
Revaluation increments/(decrements) 
recognised in Other Comprehensive 
Income

Total gains or losses for the period
included in profit or loss, under 'Other
Gains'

Transfers in and out of a fair value level are recognised on the date of the event or change in circumstances that
caused the transfer. Transfers are generally limited to assets newly classified as non-current assets held for sale
as Treasurer's instructions require valuations of land, buildings and infrastructure to be categorised within Level 3
where the valuations will utilise significant Level 3 inputs on a recurring basis.

Fair value for existing use of regional open space buildings and infrastructure assets are determined by
reference to the highest and best use, considering the most probable use that is physically, appropriately
justified, legally permissible, financially feasible and which results in the highest value of the property being
valued.
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Information about significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) in fair value measurements

Fair value Fair value
2016 2015
$000 $000

Land 392,738 392,705 Market approach

Rental buildings 13,453 13,760

15,119 14,692

Infrastructure 6,952 6,160

Reconciliations of the opening and closing balances is provided in Note 26 to 27.

29. Intangible Assets

Caveat interest

2016 2015
$000 $000

Caveat interest - at cost 23,821 17,940
23,821 17,940

Reconciliation
Carrying amount at start of period 17,940 16,563
Additions 5,881 3,680
Disposals - (2,299)
Transfers - (4)
Carrying amount at end of period 23,821 17,940

30. Impairment of assets

There were no indications of impairment to buildings, infrastructure and equipment assets at 30 June 2016.

Selection of land with similar 
approximate utility

Depreciated 
Replacement 
Cost

Consumed economic benefit / 
obsolescence of asset

Regional open space 
buildings

Depreciated 
Replacement 
Cost

Historical cost per square metre

Depreciated 
Replacement 
Cost

Historical cost per square metre

When a property is reserved for possible future acquisition, the owner may apply under certain circumstances
through the provisions of Part 11 of the Planning and Development Act 2005, to sell the property at a lesser price
than might reasonably be expected had there been no reservation. If approved, compensation representing the
difference is paid to the vendor.

At the time of a compensation payment, the WAPC's equity in the property is established on the ratio of
compensation paid, as a proportion of the unaffected value of the property. If the WAPC resumes the property at
a later date, the purchase consideration is calculated by deducting the WAPC's equity as a percentage of the
total valuation at the time of acquisition.

Parcels of land acquired towards the end of financial year were not revalued by the Western Australian Land
Information Authority (Valuation Services). These parcels of land were acquired for specific purposes such as
primary regional roads, parks & recreation areas and others. As there was a change in the classification of land
use, the Commission performed an assessment to determine the fair value of these parcels of land which
resulted in an impairment loss of $33.4 million.

Description Valuation 
techniques

Unobservable inputs
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2016 2015
$000 $000

31. Payables

Current
Accrued expenses 4,928 16,050

4,928 16,050

32. Other Liabilities

Current
Tenants' bonds 256 276
Income in advance(a) 17,930 15,635
Other liabilities 10 34

18,196 15,945

(a)

33. Equity

Contributed equity

Balance at start of period - 3,997

Contribution by owners
Capital contribution(a) 18,290 5,400
Total contributions by owners 18,290 5,400

Distribution to owners
Net Assets transferred to Government(b) (8,647) (15,771)
Total distribution to owners (8,647) (15,771)

9,643 (6,374)

Transfer of debit balance to Accumulated surplus(c) - 6,374

Balance at end of period 9,643 -
9,643

(a)

(b)

(c)

$13.3m (FY2015:$13.3m) received from Public Transport Authority and Main Roads for full payment for
lands acquired by the WAPC for the purpose of the Southern Suburbs Railway and Perth-Darwin Highway.

The Western Australian Government holds the equity interest in the WAPC on behalf of the community. Equity
represents the residual interest in the net assets of the WAPC. The asset revaluation surplus represents that
portion of equity resulting from the revaluation of non-current assets.

Under TI 955 Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities , capital contributions
have been designated as contributions by owners in accordance with AASB Interpretation 1038
Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities .

TI 955 requires non-reciprocal transfers of net assets to Government to be accounted for as distribution to
owners in accordance with AASB Interpretation 1038.

TI 955 requires a debit balance in the Contributed Equity to be transferred to Accumulated surplus in the
Statement of Financial Position.
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Reserves 2016 2015
$000 $000

Asset Revaluation Surplus:
Balance at start of period 35,886 33,925
Net revaluation increments/(decrements):
Rental buildings 1,221 1,961
Regional open space buildings 846 -
Infrastructure 353 -
Balance at end of period 38,306 35,886

Accumulated surplus/(deficit)

Balance at start of period 804,882 833,798
Transfer of debit balance in Contributed equity - (6,374)
Result for the period 28,624 (22,542)
Balance at end of period 833,506 804,882

804,882
Total Equity at end of period 881,455 840,768

34. Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows

Reconciliation of Cash

300,498 271,989

834 4,419

301,332 276,408

Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash flows provided by/(used in) operating activities

Net cost of services (78,710) (121,628)

Non cash items:
Depreciation expense 3,354 3,247
Bad and doubtful debts expense 26 51
Revaluation (increment) / decrement 44,317 101,324
Resources received free of charge 304 436
Land not acquired at fair value (credited to other revenue) (1,386) (1,441)
Impairment losses 33,406 4,187
Grants and subsidies - 9,841
Adjustment for other non-cash items 16 11
Net (gain)/loss on sale of assets (13,292) (16,549)

Add : State grants and contributions - 100

(Increase)/decrease in assets:
Current receivables (1,156) (236)
Current inventory 5 2
Other current assets 20 16

Increase/(decrease) in liabilities:
Payables (11,478) 6,758
Other current liabilities (30) 14

Net GST receipts/(payments) 411 (1,280)
Change in GST in receivables/payables - 64

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities (24,193) (15,084)

Cash and cash equivalents (see Note 19 'Cash and Cash
Equivalents')

Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the Statement of Cash Flows is reconciled to the related items
in the Statement of Financial Position as follows:

Restricted cash and cash equivalents (see Note 20
'Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents')
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2016 2015
$000 $000

35. Remuneration of Members of the Accountable Authority

No. No.
$
0 - 10,000 1 1
10,001 - 20,000 5 7
20,001 - 30,000 1 -
210,001 - 220,000 1 -
220,001 - 230,000 - 1

8 9

$000 $000
Base remuneration and superannuation 298 321
Annual leave and long service leave accruals 18 14
Other benefits 2 3
The total remuneration of members of the accountable authority 318 338

36. Remuneration of Auditor

Remuneration paid or payable to the Auditor General in respect to the audit for the current financial year is as
follows:

Auditing the accounts, financial statements and key performance indicators 70 68

37. Commitments

The commitments below are inclusive of GST where relevant

Non-cancellable operating lease commitments

Within 1 year 88 63
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 190 147

278 210

Lease commitments

425 347
802 843
786 821

2,013 2,011

Some of the buildings are leased to tenants under long-term operating leases with rentals payable monthly.

Future minimum rental receivables for operating leases at the end of the reporting period but not recognised as
assets in the financial statements, are receivable as follows:
Within 1 year
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years
Later than 5 years

Commitments in relation to non-cancellable operating lease rentals contracted for at the end of reporting period
but not recognised as liabilities in the financial statements are payable as follows:

The number of members of the accountable authority, whose total of fees, salaries, superannuation, non-
monetary benefits and other benefits for the financial year, fall within the following bands are:

The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by WAPC in respect of members of the
accountable authority.

No members of the Accountable Authority are members of the Pension Scheme.
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38. Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets

Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets

Contaminated sites

39. Supplementary Financial Information

40. Services Provided Free of Charge

41. Events Occurring after the end of the Reporting Period

42. Related Bodies

The WAPC does not have any related bodies.

43. Affiliated Bodies

The WAPC does not have any affiliated bodies.

During the period no services were provided to other agencies free of charge for functions outside the normal
operations of the WAPC.

No information has become apparent after the end of the reporting period which would materially affect the
financial statements.

Under the Contaminated Sites Act 2003 , the WAPC is required to report known and suspected contaminated
sites to the Department of Environment Regulation (DER). In accordance with the Act, DER classifies these sites
on the basis of the risk to human health, the environment and environmental values. Where sites are classified
as contaminated - remediation required or possibly contaminated - investigation required , the WAPC may have
a liability in respect of investigation or remediation expenses.

There was no debts written-off by the Commission, no loss through thefts, defaults and other causes and no gift
of public property provided by the Commission.

In addition to the liabilities included in the financial statements, there are the following contingent liabilities:

Under the operation of the Metropolitan, Peel and Greater Bunbury Region Schemes, reservations exist on
properties that may result in compensation being paid to the landholder or the property being acquired for the
WAPC's estate.  The WAPC, on an annual basis, sets such compensation and  acquisition priorities.

In some cases the landholder disputes the compensation/consideration offered by the WAPC, either through
arbitration or through Court action. Resolving such disputes form part of the ordinary business of the WAPC and
any additional payments that arise are managed within the resources of the Metropolitan Region Improvement
Fund and the regional land Acquisition Appropriation.

The WAPC's contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2016 (with respect to the Metropolitan, Peel and Greater
Bunbury Region Schemes) is approximately $108 million. The WAPC is unable to provide individual estimates of
each liability as negotiations are in progress. The provision of estimates may compromise the WAPC's legal
position.

During the year, the WAPC reported no new suspected contaminated sites to DER. Previously reported sites
have yet to be classified by DER. The WAPC is unable to assess the likely outcome of the classification process,
and accordingly, it is not practical to estimate the potential financial effect or to identify the uncertainties relating
to the amount or timing of any outflows. Whilst there is no possibility of reimbursement of any future expenses
that may be incurred in the remediation of these sites, the WAPC may apply for funding from the Contaminated
Sites Management Account to undertake further investigative work or to meet remediation costs that may be
required.
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44. Explanatory Statement

(a)  5% and $1.1 million for the Statements of Comprehensive Income and Cash Flows; and
(b)  5% and $17.5 million for the Statement of Financial Position.

Variance
between

Variance actual
between results for

Estimate Actual Actual estimate 2016 and
Variance 2016 2016 2015 and actual 2015

Statement of Comprehensive Income Note $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Expenses
Supplies and services 1, A 41,645 36,273 43,231 (5,372) (6,958)
Depreciation expense 3,600 3,354 3,247 (246) 107
Bad and doubtful debts 10 26 51 16 (25)
Committee/board fees 265 487 382 222 105
Grants and subsidies 2, B 4,127 8,566 11,657 4,439 (3,091)
Revaluation decrement 3, C - 44,317 101,324 44,317 (57,007)
Compensation payment 4, D 824 2,626 1,456 1,802 1,170
Other expenses 5, E 2,803 35,264 6,120 32,461 29,143
Total cost of services 53,274 130,913 167,468 77,639 (36,556)

Income

Revenue
Rental revenue 6,790 6,337 6,404 (453) (67)
User charges and fees 6, F 15,571 12,818 14,511 (2,753) (1,693)
Interest revenue 7 4,200 6,453 5,735 2,253 718
Other revenue 8, G 1,690 13,303 2,641 11,613 10,662
Total Revenue 28,251 38,911 29,291 10,660 9,620

Gains
Gain on disposal of non-current assets 9, H 5,000 13,292 16,549 8,292 (3,257)
Total Gains 5,000 13,292 16,549 8,292 (3,257)

Total income other than income from 
State Government

33,251 52,203 45,840 18,952 6,363

NET COST OF SERVICES 20,023 78,710 121,628 58,687 (42,919)

Income from State Government
State grants and contributions - - 100 - (100)
Service appropriation I 105,875 107,030 98,550 1,155 8,480
Services received free of charge - 304 436 304 (132)
Total income from State Government 105,875 107,334 99,086 1,459 8,248

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD 85,852 28,624 (22,542) (57,228) 51,167

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Items not reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Changes in asset revaluation surplus - 2,420 1,961 2,420 459
Total other comprehensive income - 2,420 1,961 2,420 459

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR 
THE PERIOD 85,852 31,044 (20,581) (54,808) 51,626

All variances between estimates (original budget) and actual results for 2016, and between the actual results for
2016 and 2015 are shown below. Narratives are provided for key variations selected from observed major
variances, which are generally greater than:
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Major Estimate and Actual (2016) Variance Narratives

1

2

3

4

5

6

7 Interest revenue exceeded estimates by $2.2m (54%) due to higher cash balances in the bank during the year.

8

9

Major Actual (2016) and Actual (2015) Variance Narratives

A

B

C

D

E

F User charges and fees decreased by $1.7m (12%) due to slowdown in the economic and property activities.

G

Grants and subsidies decreased by $3.1m (27%) mainly due to one-off grant payment for Lowlands Project in 2015
($9.8m) and one-off grant payment for the Lloyd Street Underpass with the Midland Health Campus project ($4.5m)
and the Strategic Assessment of Perth and Peel Regions ($1.8m) in 2016.

Supplies and services were lower than estimates by $5.4m (13%) due to underspend in the Service Delivery
Agreement expenditure.

Grant and subsidies exceeded estimates by $4.4m (108%) due to one-off grant payment for the Lloyd Street
Underpass with the Midland Health Campus project which had not been budgeted for. Expenditure was approved at
the 2015-16 Mid Year Review.

Recent revaluation of land resulted in a decrement. These movements reflect the decrease in property values due to
changes in the classification of land to highly restricted use land.

Compensation payment exceeded the estimates by $1.8m (219%) due to payments awarded for several
compensation cases that were not budgeted for. The Commission has a number of compensation cases that are
awaiting arbitration settlements and these outcomes can vary considerably.

Other expenses exceeded estimates by $32.5m (1158%) due to land impairment losses not budgeted for. Land
acquired and not revalued by VGO is impaired due to the highly restricted use land.

User charges and fees were lower then estimates by 2.7m (18%) due to slowdown in the economic and property
activities.

Other revenue exceeded estimates by $11.6m (687%) as the budget did not include the land acquired for nil cost
and capitalised at fair value ($1.4m), reimbursement of part of acquisition expenditure of land in Neerabup by Main
Roads ($4.1m) and the adjustment related to the difference between the actual cost of services provided by the
Department of Planning (DoP) and the total amount chargeable to the Commission in 2014-15 under the Service
Delivery Agreement ($6.5m).

Gain on disposal of non-current assets exceeded estimates by $8.3m (166%) mainly due to sale of land to Landcorp
that was not budgeted for.  This was approved at the 2015-16 Mid Year Review.

Supplies and services decreased by $6.9m (16%) mainly due to the $6.5m adjustment related to the difference
between the actual cost of services provided by the Department of Planning (DoP) and the total amount chargeable
to the Commission in 2014-15 under the Service Delivery Agreement.

Revaluation decrement decreased by $57.0m (56%) mainly due to the majority of the land portfolio being classified
as highly restricted use land (not at market value). The decrement is due to the newly acquired land where changes
in the classification of land use resulted in a change of valuation methodology from market value to current use.

Compensation payment increased by $1.2m (80%) due to payments awarded for several compensation cases. The
Commission has a number of compensation cases that are awaiting arbitration settlements and these outcomes can
vary considerably between reporting periods.

Other expenses increased by $29.1m (476%) mainly due to impairment losses on land not revalued by VGO -
$33.4m for FY2016 as compared to $4.2m for FY2015.

Other revenue increased by $10.7m (404%) due to reimbursement of part of acquisition expenditure of land in
Neerabup by Main Roads ($4.1m) and the adjustment related to the difference between the actual cost of services
provided by the DoP and the total amount chargeable to the Commission in 2014-15 under the Service Delivery
Agreement ($6.5m).
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H

I

Variance
between

Variance actual
between results for

Estimate Actual Actual estimate 2016 and
Variance 2016 2016 2015 and actual 2015

Statement of Financial Position Note $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 310,900 300,498 271,989 (10,402) 28,509
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 3,686 834 4,419 (2,852) (3,585)
Receivables 2,603 4,885 5,498 2,282 (613)
Inventories 9 2 7 (7) (5)
Other current assets 10, J 516 47,855 24,961 47,339 22,894
Non-current assets classified as held for sale - 7,105 2,766 7,105 4,339
Total Current Assets 317,714 361,179 309,640 43,465 51,539

Non-Current Assets
Amounts receivable for services 4,739 4,739 4,359 - 380
Property, plant and equipment 11 729,134 507,508 532,171 (221,626) (24,663)
Infrastructure 6,898 7,332 8,653 434 (1,321)
Intangible assets 12 - 23,821 17,940 23,821 5,881
Total Non-Current Assets 740,771 543,400 563,123 (197,371) (19,723)

TOTAL ASSETS 1,058,485 904,579 872,763 (153,906) 31,816

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Payables 8,924 4,928 16,050 (3,996) (11,122)
Other current liabilities 14,903 18,196 15,945 3,293 2,251
Total Current Liabilities 23,827 23,124 31,995 (703) (8,871)

TOTAL LIABILITIES 23,827 23,124 31,995 (703) (8,871)

NET ASSETS 1,034,658 881,455 840,768 (153,203) 40,687

EQUITY
Contributed equity 6,797 9,643 - 2,846 9,643
Reserves 33,926 38,306 35,886 4,380 2,420
Accumulated surplus/(deficit) 993,935 833,506 804,882 (160,429) 28,624
TOTAL EQUITY 1,034,658 881,455 840,768 (153,203) 40,687

Major Estimate and Actual (2016) Variance Narratives

10

11

Other current assets exceeded estimates by $47.3m (9174%) due to land acquisition which was paid for but not
settled at the end of FY2016 and land acquisition where issuance of certificate of title is still pending completion of
boundary survey.

Property, plant and equipment was lower than estimates by $221.6m (30%) due to revaluation decrement and
impairment loss that were not budgeted for.

Gain on disposal of non-current assets decreased by $3.2m (20%) due to higher carrying amount for the land
disposed of despite a higher proceeds received.

Service appropriation increased by $8.5m (9%) due to additional MRIT collected of $5.1m, appropriation provided by
the Treasury for the Strategic Assessment of Perth and Peel Regions project ($1.8m) and regional land
compensation payment ($1.4m).
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Major Actual (2016) and Actual (2015) Variance Narratives

J

Variance
between

Variance actual
between results for

Estimate Actual Actual estimate 2016 and
Variance 2016 2016 2015 and actual 2015

Statement of Cash Flows Note $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriation 105,495 106,650 98,170 1,155 8,480
Capital contributions 13, K 5,400 18,290 5,400 12,890 12,890
Equity repayments - - (540) - 540
Net cash provided by State Government 110,895 124,940 103,030 14,045 21,910

Utilised as follows:
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Supplies and services L (45,953) (44,046) (38,790) 1,907 (5,256)
Committee/board fees - (226) - 226
Grants and subsidies M (2,817) (7,617) (994) (4,800) (6,623)
GST payments on purchases 14, N (3,020) (6,158) (3,689) (3,138) (2,469)
GST payment to taxation authority (310) (124) (294) 186 170
Other payments (656) (3,631) (1,569) (2,975) (2,062)

Receipts
State and other bodies grants and 
contributions

- - 100 - (100)

Rental received 6,790 6,270 6,290 (520) (20)
User charges and fees 15,571 12,894 14,484 (2,677) (1,590)
Interest received 4,200 6,137 5,573 1,937 564
GST receipts on sales 15, O 310 2,854 545 2,544 2,309
GST receipts from taxation authority P 3,020 3,839 2,158 819 1,681
Other receipts 1,690 5,389 1,328 3,699 4,061
Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities (21,175) (24,193) (15,084) (3,018) (9,109)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from sale of non-current assets 16, Q 10,000 31,110 16,255 21,110 14,855
Purchase of non-current assets 17, R (40,305) (106,933) (40,116) (66,628) (66,817)
Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities (30,305) (75,823) (23,861) (45,518) (51,962)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash 
equivalents

59,415 24,924 64,085 (34,491) (39,161)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of period 255,171 276,408 212,323 21,237 64,085

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE 
END OF THE PERIOD

314,586 301,332 276,408 (13,254) 24,924

Intangible assets exceeded estimates by $23.8m (Budget: nil) due to transfer of caveat interest from land not
budgeted for.

Other current assets increased by $22.9m (92%) due to land acquisition which was paid for but not settled at the
end of FY2016 and land acquisition where issuance of certificate of title is still pending completion of boundary
survey.
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Major Estimate and Actual (2016) Variance Narratives

13

14

15 GST receipts on sales exceeded estimates by $2.5m (821%) due to increase in taxable land sales.

16

17

Major Actual (2016) and Actual (2015) Variance Narratives

K

L

M

N

O GST receipts on sales increased by $2.3m (424%) due to increase in taxable land sales.

P

Q

R

Proceeds from sale of non-current assets increased by $14.8m (91%) was mainly due to sale of land to Landcorp.
This sale was approved at the 2015-16 Mid Year Review.

Purchase of non-current assets increased by $66.8m (167%) due to land acquisition in Alkimos, Neerabup and
Eglinton from Landcorp and land acquisition arising from compensation cases in both Peel and Greater Bunbury
Region Schemes (item K).  These acquisitions were approved at the 2015-16 Mid Year Review.

Capital contributions exceeded estimates by $12.9m (239%) due to additional capital appropriation provided by
Treasury for regional land acquisitions arising from compensation cases. This was approved at the 2015-16 Mid
Year Review.

GST payments on purchases were higher than estimates by $3.1m (104%) due to increase in the land acquisition
expenditure where GST was included in the price.

Proceeds from sale of non-current assets exceeded estimates by $21.1m (211%) mainly due to sale of land to
Landcorp that was not budgeted for.  This was approved at the 2015-16 Mid Year Review.

Purchase of non-current assets exceeded estimates by $66.6m (165%) due to land acquisition in Alkimos, Neerabup
and Eglinton from Landcorp and land acquisition arising from compensation cases in both Peel and Greater Bunbury
Regional Schemes (item 13).  These acquisitions were approved at the 2015-16 Mid Year Review.

Capital contributions increased by $12.9m (239%) due to additional capital appropriation provided by Treasury for
regional land acquisitions arising from compensation cases. The additional appropriation was approved at the 2015-
16 Mid Year Review.

Supplies and services increased by $5.2m (14%) due to $9.1m in respect of 2014-15 Service Delivery Agreement
was paid in FY2016.

Grants and subsidies increased by $6.6m (666%) mainly due to one-off grant payment for the Lloyd Street
Underpass with the Midland Health Campus project ($4.5m) and the Strategic Assessment of Perth and Peel
Regions project ($1.8m).

GST payments on purchases increased by $2.5m (67%) due to increase in the land acquisition expenditure where
GST was included in the price.

GST receipts from taxation authority increased by $1.7m (78%) due to increase in the land acquisition expenditure
where GST was included in the price.



Financial statements

42 432015/16  WESTERN AUSTRALIAN PLANNING COMMISSION  Annual Report

45. Financial Instruments

(a)  Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

Credit risk

Liquidity risk

Market risk.

(b) Categories of Financial Instruments

2016 2015
$000 $000

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 300,498 271,989
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 834 4,419
Receivables(a) 7,906 7,706
Total Financial Assets 309,238 284,114

Financial liabilities
Payables 4,928 16,050
Total Financial Liabilities 4,928 16,050

In addition to cash, the carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets and
financial liabilities at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

(a) The amount of receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).

Financial instruments held by the WAPC are cash and cash equivalents, receivables and payables.
The WAPC has limited exposure to financial risks. The WAPC's overall risk management program
focuses on managing the risks identified below.

Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the WAPC’s receivables defaulting on their contractual
obligations resulting in financial loss to the WAPC.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period in relation to each class of
recognised financial assets is the gross carrying amount of those assets inclusive of any allowance for
impairment as shown in the table at Note 45(c) 'Financial Instruments Disclosures' and Note 21
'Receivables'.

Credit risk associated with the WAPC’s financial assets is minimal because the main receivable is the
amounts receivable for services (holding account). For receivables other than government, the WAPC
trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties. The WAPC has policies in place to ensure that
sales of products and services are made to customers with an appropriate credit history. In addition,
receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the WAPC’s exposure to
bad debts is minimal. At the end of the reporting period, there were no significant concentrations of
credit risk.

Liquidity risk arises when the WAPC is unable to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The
WAPC is exposed to liquidity risk through its trading in the normal course of business. The WAPC has
appropriate procedures to manage cash flows including drawdowns of appropriations by monitoring
forecast cash flows to ensure that sufficient funds are available to meet its commitments.

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates
will affect the WAPC's income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The WAPC does
not trade in foreign currency and is not materially exposed to other price risks (for example, equity
securities or commodity prices changes). The WAPC's exposure to market risk for changes in interest
rates relates primarily to cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash and cash equivalents which
are held at variable interest rates. The WAPC have no borrowings. Other than as detailed in the
Interest rate sensitivity analysis table at Note 45(c), the WAPC is not exposed to interest rate risk.
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t(c) Financial Instrument Disclosures

Credit risk

Aged analysis of financial assets

Not past due Impaired
Carrying and not Up to 1-3 3 months More than financial
amount impaired 1 month months to 1 year 1-5 years 5 years assets
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

2016
Cash and cash equivalents 300,498 300,498    -             -                -                -             -             -             
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 834        834           -             -                -                -             -             -             
Receivables(a) 3,167     2,827        86          92             77             85           -             -             
Amount receivable for services 4,739     4,739        -             -                -                -             -             -             

309,238 308,898    86          92             77             85           -             -             

2015
Cash and cash equivalents 271,989 271,989    -             -                -                -             -             -             
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 4,419     4,419        -                -                -             -             -             
Receivables(a) 3,347     3,018        123        78             101           27           -             -             
Amount receivable for services 4,359     4,359        -             -                -                -             -             -             

284,114 283,785    123        78             101           27           -             -             

(a) The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).

The following table disclose the WAPC's maximum exposure to credit risk and the ageing analysis of financial assets. The WAPC’s maximum exposure to credit risk at the
end of the reporting period is the carrying amount of financial assets as shown below. The table discloses the ageing of financial assets that are past due but not impaired
and impaired financial assets.  The table is based on information provided to senior management of the WAPC.

The WAPC does not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancements relating to the financial assets it holds.

Past due but not impaired
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Interest rate exposures and maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities

Weighted
average
effective Fixed Variable Non-
interest Carrying interest interest interest Nominal Up to 1-3 3 months More than

rate amount rate rate bearing amount 1 month months to 1 year 1-5 years 5 years
% $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

2016
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 2.27       300,498    -             300,496    2               300,498  300,498 -             -             -             -             
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 2.27       834           -             834           -                834         834        -             -             -             -             
Receivables(a) -             3,167        -             -                3,167        3,167      3,167     -             -             -             -             
Amount receivable for services -             4,739        -             -                4,739        4,739      -             -             -             4,739     -             

309,238    -             301,330    7,908        309,238  304,499 -             -             4,739     -             

Financial Liabilities
Payables 4,928        -             -                4,928        4,928      4,928     -             -             -             -             

4,928        -             -                4,928        4,928      4,928     -             -             -             -             
(a) The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).

2015
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 2.70       271,989    -             271,987    2               271,989  271,989 -             -             -             -             
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 2.70       4,419        -             4,419        -                4,419      4,419     -             -             -             -             
Receivables(a) -             3,347        -             -                3,347        3,347      3,347     -             -             -             -             
Amount receivable for services -             4,359        -             -                4,359        4,359      -             -             -             4,359     -             

284,114    -             276,406    7,708        284,114  279,755 -             -             4,359     -             

Financial Liabilities
Payables 16,050      -             -                16,050      16,050    16,050   -             -             -             -             

16,050      -             -                16,050      16,050    16,050   -             -             -             -             
(a) The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).

The following table details the WAPC's interest rate exposure and the contractual maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities. The maturity analysis section
includes interest and principal cash flows.  The interest rate exposure section analyses only the carrying amounts of each item.

Interest rate exposure Maturity dates
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tInterest rate sensitivity analysis

Carrying
Amount Surplus Equity Surplus Equity

2016 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 300,498 (3,005)       (3,005)    3,005        3,005      
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 834        (8)              (8)           8               8             

301,332 (3,013)       (3,013)    3,013        3,013      

Carrying
Amount Surplus Equity Surplus Equity

2015 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 271,989 (2,720)       (2,720)    2,720        2,720      
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 4,419     (44)            (44)         44             44           

276,408 (2,764)       (2,764)    2,764        2,764      

Fair values

All financial assets and liabilities recognised in the Statement of Financial Position, whether they are carried at cost or fair value, are recognised at amounts that represent a
reasonable approximation of fair value unless otherwise stated in the applicable notes.

The following table represents a summary of the interest rate sensitivity of the WAPC’s financial assets and liabilities at the end of the reporting period on the surplus for the
period and equity for a 1% change in interest rates.  It is assumed that the change in interest rates is held constant throughout the reporting period.

-100 basis points +100 basis points

-100 basis points +100 basis points
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2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

COST OF SERVICES
Expenses
Supplies and services 14,304 15,469 5,646 4,767 16,323 16,455 - 6,539 36,273 43,231
Depreciation expense - - - - 3,354 3,247 - - 3,354 3,247
Bad and doubtful debts - - - - 26 51 - - 26 51
Committee/board fees 233 154 127 116 127 111 - - 487 381
Grants and subsidies 40 - 2,854 835 5,672 10,821 - - 8,566 11,657
Revaluation decrement - - - - 44,317 101,324 - - 44,317 101,324
Compensation payment - - - - 2,626 1,456 - - 2,626 1,456
Other expenses 155 203 215 312 34,894 5,606 - - 35,264 6,120
Total cost of services 14,732 15,827 8,842 6,030 107,339 139,072 - 6,539 130,913 167,468

Income 
Revenue
Rental revenue - - - - 6,337 6,404 - - 6,337 6,404
User fees and charges 11,955 13,488 858 1,023 5 - - - 12,818 14,511
Interest revenue 2,151 1,912 2,151 1,912 2,151 1,912 - - 6,453 5,735
Other revenue 2 12 2 22 6,760 2,607 6,539 - 13,303 2,641
Total Revenue 14,108 15,412 3,011 2,957 15,253 10,922 6,539 - 38,911 29,291

Gains
Gain on disposal of non-current assets - - - - 13,292 16,549 - - 13,292 16,549
Total Gains - - - - 13,292 16,549 - - 13,292 16,549

Total income other than income from State 
Government

14,108 15,412 3,011 2,957 28,545 27,471 6,539 - 52,203 45,840

NET COST OF SERVICES 624 416 5,831 3,073 78,794 111,601 (6,539) 6,539 78,710 121,628

Statutory Planning Strategic Planning Asset Management TotalUnallocated



48

Fi
n

an
ci

al
 s

ta
te

m
en

ts

48
20

15
/1

6 
 W

ES
TE

RN
 A

U
ST

RA
LI

A
N

 P
LA

N
N

IN
G

 C
O

M
M

IS
SI

O
N

  A
nn

ua
l R

ep
or

t

2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Statutory Planning Strategic Planning Asset Management TotalUnallocated

INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
State grants and contributions - - - 100 - - - - - 100
Service appropriation 28,457 27,488 19,914 12,040 58,659 59,022 - - 107,030 98,550
Resources received free of charge 2 145 2 145 300 145 - - 304 436
Total income from State Government 28,459 27,634 19,916 12,286 58,959 59,167 - - 107,334 99,086

Surplus/(deficit) for the period 27,835 27,218 14,085 9,213 (19,835) (52,434) 6,539 (6,539) 28,624 (22,542)

The Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
For the year ended 30 June 2016

WAPC and Government Desired Outcomes and Key Performance Indicators

Government Goal

1. Statutory Planning

2. Strategic Planning

3. Asset Management

2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2015-16
Actual Actual Target Actual

- Metropolitan Perth 2,528 2,680 2,560 2,390

- Country Western Australia 783 642 640 550

Why they are key indicators of performance?

Why are the indicators considered relevant to the outcomes and services?

The indicators chosen directly measure the WAPC's effectiveness and efficiency in producing services and meeting the service
objectives.

The efficiency indicators incorporate the cost of each service and as such gauge the overall efficiency in achieving the desired
outcome.

The WAPC is not the sole determinant of land availability, as, for a number of reasons, not all preliminary approvals (which reflect a
bank of developable land from which developers can draw) go through to the final approval stage. These include external factors such
as availability of raw materials, interest rates, developer capacity and market conditions. Therefore, the WAPC is only able to respond
to applications lodged for preliminary and final approval. These measures are extracted from the Department of Planning's electronic
administrative subdivision tracking system and are published in the quarterly bulletin entitled State Lot Activity.

The WAPC seeks to provide sufficient land for housing to accommodate the anticipated future population growth of the State. To this
end, the WAPC plays an important role by ensuring sufficient zoned urban land and facilitating orderly land release through structure
planning and issuing subdivision approvals throughout the State. The WAPC is partnered with the Department of Planning in this
process. The WAPC issued final approvals for 2,206 subdivision applications during 2015-16 (Perth and Peel) to the land
development industry.  

How can the indicators assist the reader to assess performance?

The effectiveness indicators inform the reader how well the land use planning activities of the WAPC contribute to the development of
Land Use Planning and Land Use Implementation Strategies that guide the State's long term urban settlement and economic
development. Results can be compared with previous years performance (where available) and targets as published per the Budget
Papers. Efficiency indicators gauge the cost of each service based on a measurable unit of quantity. For example, results are
presented on a $cost per decision or per hectare managed basis for easy comprehension.

Effectiveness Indicator: Number of planning applications determined within set statutory parameters

Outcomes and Key Effectiveness Indicators

The WAPC’s Mission is to formulate and coordinate land use strategies for Western Australia to facilitate its growth while continuously
enhancing its unique quality of life and environment. In this way the WAPC contributes to the Government's goals outlined in the table
below. 

ServicesDesired Outcome

Land use planning and 
land use implementation 
strategies to guide the 
State's long-term urban 
settlement and economic 

State Building - Major Projects            
Building strategic infrastructure that will 
create jobs and underpin Western 
Australia's long-term economic 
development.

The planning community comprises the WAPC's primary client group and consists of a wide range of individuals, companies, agencies
and groups involved in the land use planning process. The level of usefulness of the WAPC's activities to this client group directly
measures how effective the WAPC is in guiding the State's long term urban settlement and economic development.

WAPC Level Government Desired Outcome: Land use planning and land use implementation strategies to guide the State's
long-term urban settlement and economic development.

Reasons for Significant Variance

A general slowdown in the local
economy arising from the shift from
the mining investment phase to a
mining operations phase, and a
decrease in overseas migration.
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Effectiveness Indicator: Determinations which were processed without a successful appeal

2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2015-16
Actual Actual Target Actual

Determinations which were processed
without a successful appeal 99% 99% 99% 99%

Effectiveness Indicator: Applications processed within the statutory timeframes

2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2015-16
Actual Actual Target Actual

Applications processed within the statutory
timeframes 79% 85% 80% 81%

Effectiveness Indicator: Planning decisions - strategic, environment, industry, infrastructure, transport

2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2015-16
Actual Actual Target Actual

Planning decisions - strategic,
environment, industry, infrastructure,
transport

185 220 197 288

Effectiveness Indicator: Client satisfaction (via survey)

2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2015-16
Actual Actual Target Actual

Client satisfaction with strategic planning
activities (via survey) 65% 75% 75% 82%

2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2015-16
Actual Actual Target Actual

Client satisfaction with the timeliness of
strategic planning activities (via survey) 48% 59% 60% 73%

The WAPC determines land use planning applications put to it. This indicator measures the timeframe efficiency of the statutory
approval processes employed by the WAPC.

The percentage of determinations made without successful applications for review provides an indicator of the WAPC's effectiveness in
the application of the State Planning Framework . Effective application of this framework delivers efficient decisions and ensures that
new land is adequately serviced. Where a determination is successfully challenged by demonstrating flaws in the application of policy,
additional costs may be incurred both by the developer and subsequently by land purchasers. The indicator is the percentage of all
subdivision, strata and development determinations made that are not successfully "reviewed" (i.e. upheld) before the State
Administrative Tribunal (SAT). The data shows that 3 applications for review before the SAT were upheld in 2015-16,and that 3,640
subdivisions, strata and development applications were determined.  

A response rate of 39.1% equal to 235 responses out of a population of 602 strategic planning clients was achieved, with a confidence
level of 95% and a sampling error of +/-5.0%.

Increase in the number of strategic
reports referred to the WAPC for
decisions.

Reasons for Significant Variance

The WAPC conducts an annual survey of its strategic planning clients seeking their views on the activities of the WAPC in a wide
range of strategic planning areas. To determine the effectiveness of strategic planning activities, an external survey is undertaken with
the clients of the land use planning system (developers, infrastructure departments, local authorities and other stakeholders). The
results of the survey (shown below) measure directly the effectiveness of the WAPC.

Research Solutions, an independent research consultancy, conducted the 2016 survey using a telephone interview. A response rate of
50% (17% in 2015) equal to 301 responses out of a population of 602 strategic planning clients was achieved, with a confidence level
of 95% and a sampling error of +/-4.0% was noted for the entire survey. However as each KPI reflects the response of a single
question and not all questions were answered by participants, each KPI has a separate response rate and confidence interval and are
noted below.

A response rate of 38.4% equal to 231 responses out of a population of 602 strategic planning clients was achieved, with a confidence
level of 95% and a sampling error of +/-5.07%.
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2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2015-16
Actual Actual Target Actual

Acquisitions - acceptances within 
approved range 100% 100% 95% 98%

Disposals - realised at in excess of 
reserved price 100% 100% 100% 100%

Acquisitions - approved schedule acquired 
within period 90% 91% 100% 266%

Disposals - approved schedule disposed 
within period 132% 260% 100% 273%

2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2015-16
Actual Actual Target Actual

Available days tenanted for residential
buildings only 97% 95% 96% 92%

Approved management program achieved 53% 95% 93% 122%

Approved management plan activities
achieved 53% 95% 93% 122%

Service 1: Statutory Planning

Efficiency Indicator: Average cost per application determined

The Commission is charged with the responsible ownership of the Parks and Reservations under its control. The approved
management program achieved and approved management plan activities achieved reflects the total amount spent on management of
these properties in comparison to budgeted amounts per the government budgeting process. This KPI reflects the effectiveness of the
Commission to manage the properties in line with expected expenditures. 

Effectiveness Indicator: Price and timing for acquisition and disposal of land for region schemes

Effectiveness Indicator: Occupancy rate and management of rental properties

Service Description: Utilisation of statutory, consultative, legislative, regulatory reform and coordination processes that
facilitate the implementation of creative and innovative strategic regional and local plans and policies.

Reasons for Significant Variance

Wherever possible, the WAPC leases residential and commercial buildings on acquired land until it is utilised for the purpose of its 
reservation.  The WAPC aims to maximise rental income on the basis of high occupancy rates and market rentals.

Additional sales approved in the Mid
Year Review to dispose of surplus
lands to Landcorp.

The prices for the acquisition and disposal of land are negotiated with reference to both internal and independent valuation information.
This ensures that a fair price is determined for both parties to the transactions. Timing of acquisitions and disposals is important to
ensure that land is acquired when needed and that land is disposed of in accordance with a planned program.  

The WAPC's measures of efficiency are formulated to measure the cost per planning activity. The overall cost to the State of providing
a land use planning service on a per capita basis and as a proportion of the State's economic activity is a macro level indicator that
gauges the efficiency of the WAPC.

The WAPC sets in place land use plans and strategies to guide the State's long term urban settlement and economic development.
These indicators of performance measure how efficiently the WAPC is conducting land use planning activities on a completion, time
and cost basis.

Additional funding approved in the
Mid Year Review to purchase lands
from Landcorp for Bush Forever, the
Northern Suburbs Railway and
Mitchell Freeway extension.

Reasons for Significant Variance

The WAPC determines land use planning applications put to it. This indicator measures the cost efficiency of the statutory approval
processes employed by the WAPC.

The indicator is derived by dividing the full cost of Statutory Planning services by the number of statutory planning decisions made in
the financial year. The figures are sourced from the WAPC's financial system and from an internal database which tracks the number of
applications received/determined.

Extra work was carried out for fire
control measures and weed control.

Extra work was carried out for fire
control measures and weed control.

Key Efficiency Indicators
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2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2015-16
Actual Actual (a) Target Actual

Average cost per application determined $3,686 $4,059 $4,467 $4,047

Service 2: Strategic Planning

Efficiency Indicator: Average cost per planning decision - strategic, environment, industry, infrastructure and transport

2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2015-16
Actual Actual (a) Target Actual

Average cost per planning decision -
strategic, environment, industry,
infrastructure and transport

$50,870 $27,409 $43,777 $30,701

Service 3: Asset Management

Efficiency Indicator: Cost of management of land acquired for region schemes

2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2015-16
Actual Actual (a) Target Actual

Hectares managed:
 - Improvement plans, regional roads and 
   other uses (includes rental properties)

3,389 3,279 3,390 3,616

 - Parks and recreation reserves 10,684 10,662 10,550 10,735

Average cost per hectare managed $1,722 $2,407 $1,921 $2,064

Reasons for Significant Variance

Note (a) : The Commission's key performance indicators are calculated based on the reported total cost of services, less the $6.5
million unallocated expenses as stated in Note 46.

The indicator is derived by dividing the full cost of Strategic Planning services by the number of strategic planning decisions made in
the financial year. The figures are sourced from the WAPC's financial system and from an internal database which tracks the number of
Strategic Planning decisions made.

The indicator is derived by dividing the full management costs (excluding revaluation decrements and impairment losses for land)
associated with property activities by the number of hectares under management as shown. The figures are sourced from the WAPC's
financial system and from and in-house property database system that tracks property holdings and transactions.  

Increase in the number of strategic
reports referred to the WAPC for
decisions.

Note (a) : The Commission's key performance indicators are calculated based on the reported total cost of services, less the $6.5
million unallocated expenses as stated in Note 46.

The WAPC holds land with a value in excess of $475 million (fair value). These lands are held for a variety of purposes, but in the main
are for park and recreational use, as well as for road and highway reserves. The cost per hectare of managing these lands is a
measure of cost efficiency for this service.

The WAPC makes decisions on a wide range of strategic land use planning matters. This indicator measures the cost efficiency of the
WAPC in coming to its strategic decisions.

Service Description: The acquisition, management and disposal of properties reserved under the Metropolitan, Peel and
Greater Bunbury Region Schemes for primary and other regional roads, parks and recreation and regional open space areas,
special uses including planning control area and improvement plans and major land development projects.

Note (a) : The Commission's key performance indicators are calculated based on the reported total cost of services, less the $6.5
million unallocated expenses as stated in Note 46.

Service Description: The development and advancement of planning strategies, policies and information systems that guide
the State's long-term urban settlement, industrial and economic development and the management of the environment in
such a way that reflects the aspirations of the Western Australian community for a high quality of life.
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